Public Document Pack

SCRUTINY BOARD (ADULTS, HEALTH & ACTIVE LIFESTYLES)
Meeting to be held remotely on
Tuesday, 16th March, 2021 at 1.30 pm
(A pre-meeting will take place for ALL Members of the Board at 1.00 p.m.)
MEMBERSHIP
Councillors
C Anderson J Elliott N Harrington M Iqbal C Knight G Latty S Lay A Marshall-Katung (Chair) D Ragan A Smart -

Adel and Wharfedale;
Morley South;
Wetherby;
Hunslet and Riverside;
Weetwood;
Guiseley and Rawdon;
Otley and Yeadon;
Little London and
Woodhouse;
Burmantofts and Richmond
Hill;
Armley;

P Truswell -

Middleton Park;

A Wenham -

Roundhay;

Co-opted Member (Non-voting)
Dr J Beal - Healthwatch Leeds

Note to observers of the meeting: To remotely observe this meeting, please click on the
‘To View Meeting’ link which will feature on the meeting’s webpage (linked below) ahead
of the meeting. The webcast will become available at the commencement of the meeting.
https://democracy.leeds.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=1090&MId=10097&Ver=4

Principal Scrutiny Adviser:
Angela Brogden
Tel: (0113) 37 88661
Produced on Recycled Paper

A

AGENDA

Item
No
1

Ward/Equal
Opportunities

Item Not
Open

Page
No
APPEALS AGAINST REFUSAL OF INSPECTION
OF DOCUMENTS
To consider any appeals in accordance with
Procedure Rule 25* of the Access to Information
Procedure Rules (in the event of an Appeal the
press and public will be excluded).
(* In accordance with Procedure Rule 25, notice of
an appeal must be received in writing by the Head
of Governance Services at least 24 hours before
the meeting).

2

EXEMPT INFORMATION - POSSIBLE
EXCLUSION OF THE PRESS AND PUBLIC
1. To highlight reports or appendices which
officers have identified as containing exempt
information, and where officers consider that
the public interest in maintaining the
exemption outweighs the public interest in
disclosing the information, for the reasons
outlined in the report.
2. To consider whether or not to accept the
officers recommendation in respect of the
above information.
3. If so, to formally pass the following
resolution:RESOLVED – That the press and public be
excluded from the meeting during
consideration of the following parts of the
agenda designated as containing exempt
information on the grounds that it is likely, in
view of the nature of the business to be
transacted or the nature of the proceedings,
that if members of the press and public were
present there would be disclosure to them of
exempt information, as follows:
No exempt items have been identified.

B

3

LATE ITEMS
To identify items which have been admitted to the
agenda by the Chair for consideration.
(The special circumstances shall be specified in
the minutes.)

4

DECLARATION OF DISCLOSABLE PECUNIARY
INTERESTS
To disclose or draw attention to any disclosable
pecuniary interests for the purposes of Section 31
of the Localism Act 2011 and paragraphs 13-16 of
the Members’ Code of Conduct.

5

APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE AND
NOTIFICATION OF SUBSTITUTES
To receive any apologies for absence and
notification of substitutes.

6

MINUTES - 9TH FEBRUARY 2021

5 - 12

To approve as a correct record the minutes of the
meeting held on 9th February 2021.
7

HEARING AND BALANCE CENTRE

13 20

To receive a report from the Head of Democratic
Services that presents information from the Leeds
Teaching Hospitals NHS Trust on plans to
temporarily relocate the Hearing and Balance
Centre.
8

LEEDS FERTILITY IVF SERVICE
To receive a report from the Head of Democratic
Services that presents information from the Leeds
Teaching Hospitals NHS Trust on proposals to
explore and test the market for opportunities to
grow and sustain the Leeds Fertility IVF service in
light of a changing competitive market in Leeds.

C

21 30

9

WOMEN'S HEALTH IN LEEDS

31 48

To receive a report from the Director of Public
Health which provides an update on key women’s
health issues and how COVID-19 has impacted.
10

WORK SCHEDULE
To consider the Scrutiny Board’s work schedule for
the 2020/21 municipal year and outline proposals
for the 2021/22 municipal year.

11

DATE AND TIME OF NEXT MEETING
To be confirmed.
THIRD PARTY RECORDING
Recording of this meeting is allowed to enable those
not present to see or hear the proceedings either as
they take place (or later) and to enable the reporting of
those proceedings. A copy of the recording protocol is
available from the contacts on the front of this agenda.
Use of Recordings by Third Parties – code of practice
a) Any published recording should be
accompanied by a statement of when and
where the recording was made, the context
of the discussion that took place, and a clear
identification of the main speakers and their
role or title.
b) Those making recordings must not edit the
recording in a way that could lead to
misinterpretation or misrepresentation of the
proceedings or comments made by
attendees. In particular there should be no
internal editing of published extracts;
recordings may start at any point and end at
any point but the material between those
points must be complete.
Webcasting
Please note – the publically accessible parts of this
meeting will be filmed for live or subsequent broadcast
via the City Council’s website. At the start of the
meeting, the Chair will confirm if all or part of the
meeting is to be filmed.

D

49 84

Agenda Item 6
SCRUTINY BOARD (ADULTS,HEALTH & ACTIVE LIFESTYLES)
TUESDAY, 9TH FEBRUARY, 2021
PRESENT:

Councillor H Hayden in the Chair
Councillors C Anderson, J Elliott,
N Harrington, C Knight, G Latty, S Lay,
D Ragan, A Smart, P Truswell, A Wenham
and P Wray

Co-optee present – Dr John Beal, Healthwatch Leeds

65

Appeals Against Refusal of Inspection of Documents
There were no appeals against the refusal of inspection of documents.

66

Exempt Information - Possible Exclusion of the Press and Public
The agenda contained no exempt information.

67

Late Items
There were no late items of business.

68

Declaration of Disclosable Pecuniary Interests
No declarations of disclosable pecuniary interests were made.

69

Apologies for Absence and Notification of Substitutes
Apologies for absence were received from Councillor M Iqbal. Councillor P
Wray attended as substitute.

70

Minutes - 5th January 2021
An amendment to minute 61 “Initial Budget Proposals for 2021/22” relating to
the Neighbourhood Network Service was requested to reflect that the annual
budget for the Neighbourhood Network Service is £3.0 million, not £2.5
million.
RESOLVED – That subject to the amendment to minute 61 “Initial Budget
Proposals for 2021/22” relating to the Neighbourhood Network Service
recorded above, the minutes of the previous meeting held 5 th January 2021
be approved as a correct record.

71

Matters Arising
Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting
to be held on Tuesday, 16th March, 2021

Page 5

Minute 61 Initial Budget Proposals for 2021/22
The Board noted that the Phase 2 Scrutiny Response Statement had been
submitted within the Budget proposals for consideration by Executive Board
on 10th February 2021. Members were invited to receive any updates made to
the Budget proposals since their consideration by this Board in January as
follows:
 Active Leeds – Councillor M Rafique, Executive Member for Environment
and Active Lifestyles provided a commitment to continue discussions to
find suitable permanent solutions to the proposals for Chippendale Pool,
Leeds Sailing Centre and the Tennis Centre at John Charles Centre for
Sport in response to the outcome of consultation.
The Chief Officer – Operations (City Development) confirmed that
progress on the initial proposals for the three centres was paused whilst a
process of due diligence was undertaken on the viability of the potential
third party interest identified during the consultation process, which could
result in alternative delivery models. An update on the alternative solutions
would be provided to the Scrutiny Board in due course.
 Adult Social Care – The Director of Adults and Health highlighted the
amendments made to the initial Budget proposals and the Head of
Finance Adults & Health outlined a number of changes made to the
Budget submission for the Directorate, including the impact of the National
Minimum Wage on the proposed Care Home fee uplift, funding proposals
for the Shop Mobility scheme and deferral of proposed charges to the
appointee service.
RESOLVED –
a) To note the updates provided
b) To thank officers for their collaborative work with the Scrutiny Board
and for their efforts to achieve a positive Budget outcome.
72

Winter pressures across Health and Social Care including and during
Covid-19
The Director of Adults and Health submitted a report presenting an update on
system winter and resilience planning and the actions taken during the third
peak of the Coronavirus pandemic as it affected the Leeds NHS system. The
report outlined how the system – NHS and social care services dealing with
urgent care, inpatient care and discharge and rehabilitation community
services –remained flexible in response to winter pressures, Covid-19
infection rates and the consequent impact on health and social care services.
Additionally, the report highlighted the governance system in place and the
close and effective interaction between the Bronze, Silver and Gold groups,
ensuring that information flow and decision making remained swift and
effective.
The following were in attendance:
Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting
to be held on Tuesday, 16th March, 2021

Page 6









Councillor Fiona Venner - Interim Executive Member for Health, Wellbeing
and Adults
Cath Roff - Director of Adults and Health
Victoria Eaton - Director of Public Health
Shona McFarlane - Deputy Director Social Work and Social Care Services
Helen Lewis - Director of Pathway Integration, NHS Leeds CCG
Mike Harvey - Deputy Chief Operating Officer, Leeds Teaching Hospitals
NHS Trust
Sam Prince - Executive Director of Operations, Leeds Community
Healthcare NHS Trust

The Executive Member introduced the report, highlighting the impact of the
unique requirements of Covid-19, such as social distancing measures, on the
treatment of Covid-19 and the impact on wider health service provision.
The Board received a presentation in three parts. The Director of Pathway
Integration, NHS Leeds CCG; introduced the first segment and highlighted the
following key points:
 The system operating principles which placed an emphasis on working
together to share data and plans; address system challenges; to maximise
the skills and capability of the collective workforce and ensure clear lines
of communication across all levels.
 The command and control structure.
 Long term planning undertaken during Summer 2020 which included
winter scenarios and risk assessments, with an initial ‘worst case’
identifying areas of greatest pressure - plans had focussed on admission
avoidance; reduction in length of stay; alternatives to continued stay in
hospital; additional Covid and critical care capacity within LTHT and cohort
arrangements within LYPFT.
 The need to identify the Covid-19 status of a new patient quickly in order
to allocate treatment appropriately and safely.
The Deputy Chief Operating Officer, Leeds Teaching Hospitals Trust,
presented the second segment and highlighted the following:
 Advice received from SAGE and modelling informed planning on a weekly
basis for Covid-19 capacity, taking into account prevalence and local case
rates; and the rate and ability to discharge patients.
 The April peak saw 247 beds in use for Covid-19 patients, the 2nd wave
peak was 320 in November and currently there are approximately 240
patients in the hospital.
 The pressures of care, in terms of the numbers of patients, type of care
required, pressure on staff to provide care and the physical space required
to accommodate Covid-19 patients and the restrictions that brought.
The Deputy Director, Adults and Health, Social Work and Social Care
Services, introduced the third segment of the presentation. The following key
issues were highlighted:
 The Home First and Discharge to Assess principles embedded in the
approach used throughout the pandemic.
Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting
to be held on Tuesday, 16th March, 2021

Page 7








Changes to the Social Work structure made in conjunction with Leeds
Community Healthcare NHS Trust had supported more patient discharges
to home and community, leading to teams being both hospital and
community based.
Daily review meetings were implemented to ensure system flow and
sharing of data and communication channels using effective multidisciplinary working across social care, therapy, nursing and community
services.
Increased Home Care capacity meant fewer and shorter delays in
discharge from hospital, thus releasing bed capacity.
Social work systems were in place to ensure people who are admitted to a
community bed through a ‘light touch’ approach in LTHT are quickly
supported to go home first, and only by exception admitted permanently to
residential or nursing care.

Additionally, the following matters were brought to Members attention:
The importance of the Mental Health Service - acknowledging increased
demand and expectations of the Service as those admitted displayed an
increased acuity and as there was little flexibility in acute bed provision,
Covid-19 brought additional space requirements which had a negative impact
on the service available. The Service had responded by working West
Yorkshire wide to use all available capacity and by enhancing intensive home
treatment teams to enable people to stay safely at home. Staffing had also
been prioritised to the areas under the greatest pressure.
Impact of Covid-19 on surgery and outpatients - Elective surgery had been
significantly impacted by the pandemic and capacity fluctuated depending on
the pressures from Covid-19. Although urgent cancer surgery continued
throughout the pandemic, the Board were provided with an outline of the
number of patients currently on a Cancer Pathway and waiting more than 62
days from referral to treatment.
Members discussed a number of matters, including:
The focus of the impact of the Pandemic on staff - although the public
expressed support for NHS staff and carers, the pressure on staff brought by
the failure to suppress the pandemic was not felt to be widely understood.
Members suggested that hearing directly from staff would enable the Board to
gain an understanding of stress, effect on mental health, staff vacancies and
the impact of ‘Long Covid’ alongside an outline of how staff will be supported
during the period of service and staff recovery. The Board also acknowledged
the impact of loss and bereavement on Care Home staff who have cared for
residents over long periods, and on those non-community care staff who were
redeployed into the community to meet the care challenge presented by the
pandemic, particularly those who had not experienced end of life care
pathways before.
Covid-19 testing for patients – the Board heard that, due to improvements in
technology and processes, the waiting time to receive a result had reduced to
Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting
to be held on Tuesday, 16th March, 2021

Page 8

30 minutes – this was essential to ensure new patients are tested so they can
be assigned care and a bed if needed. Care can be provided in relevant areas
under a red amber green system; with 9 red wards across Leeds; patients are
tested daily for 5 days to minimise risk.
Standards of care within ‘own home’ – An increased number of people now
choose care being provided within their own homes and it was confirmed that
there were no concerns regarding own home care standards. Close working
between Social Workers, Home Care Providers and Community Healthcare
professionals was being piloted to develop a good joint approach. It was
acknowledged that there had been issues in the past achieving ‘good’ rating;
but with new ways of working and ‘spot checks’ this had improved. Some
Home Care Providers had previously struggled to recruit and retain staff, but
that was less of an issue now.
Flu vaccination uptake – In acknowledging that there had been an increased
uptake of the flu vaccination, it was agreed that more detailed data reflecting
age and ethnicity on a ward level basis would be provided to Board Members.
In conclusion and on behalf of the Scrutiny Board, the Chair extended thanks
to staff; Third Sector and volunteers, working in hospitals; care home and
community settings for the tremendous effort in supporting patients of Covid19 and patients requiring care.
RESOLVED –
a) That the contents of the report and accompanying presentation, along
with Members comments, be noted;
b) That the information requested from Members (as set out above) be
provided.

73

Overview of the Leeds COVID-19 Vaccination Programme
The Board received the report of the Leeds Bronze COVID-19 Vaccination
Steering Group, which provided a high level overview of the Leeds COVID-19
Vaccination Programme and rollout. The Board also received a ‘just in time’
presentation produced by the Leeds COVID-19 Vaccination Programme
outlining the dynamic nature of the programme, which included information on
the following:
 Arrangements for the Leeds COVID-19 Vaccination Programme
 Types of vaccination settings
 Prioritisation of people and staff and tackling health inequalities
 Workforce implications
The following were in attendance:
 Councillor Fiona Venner - Interim Executive Member for Health, Wellbeing
and Adults
 Cath Roff - Director of Adults and Health
 Victoria Eaton - Director of Public Health
Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting
to be held on Tuesday, 16th March, 2021

Page 9

 Shona McFarlane - Deputy Director Social Work and Social Care Services
 Tony Cooke - Chief Officer Health Partnerships
 Sam Prince - Executive Director of Operations, Leeds Community
Healthcare NHS Trust
 Shak Rafiq - Interim Head of Communications and Engagement, NHS
Leeds Clinical Commissioning Group
The Interim Executive Member for Health, Wellbeing and Adults introduced
the item and took the opportunity to focus on health inequalities and the need
for work to address vaccine hesitancy in some communities. The work
undertaken by some of Leeds’ student population to support the vaccination
programme and the work of Leeds Healthwatch during the pandemic were
also highlighted.
The Executive Director of Operations, Leeds Community Healthcare NHS
Trust and Senior Responsible Officer, Leeds COVID-19 Vaccination
Programme provided an overview of the roll out of the vaccination programme
in Leeds, culminating in 23 vaccination sites now being operational along with
a roving team targeting health inequalities and the harder to reach
communities.
The presentation included a video walk through of a vaccination procedure at
a vaccination hub and provided the following details:
 Initial priority groups - The phased vaccination programme initially
prioritised care home staff and residents, patients aged 80 and above and
frontline health and social care staff. The priority group has now been
expanded to cover over 50’s and Clinically Extremely Vulnerable. The
priority groups will be broadened following advice from the JCVI.
 The order of vaccine delivery
 The prioritisation of the workforce
 The recruitment campaign to support the delivery of the vaccine
The Chief Officer, Health Partnerships and Chair of LCC COVID-19 Vaccine
Co-ordination Group provided an overview of the far reaching impact of the
programme in terms of management of unrelated issues such as ensuring
gritters treat the roads during recent bad weather and discussions with WYCA
regarding bus routes leading to vaccination hubs. Additionally, the Board
received assurance that focus remains on Care Home residents and staff,
with the programme aware of the variations in Care Home uptake of the
vaccine and work was underway to address the reasons for this. Details on
the following points were provided:
 Tackling health inequalities exacerbated during the pandemic;
 Communications with a strategic focus on improving public and staff
knowledge, perceptions and motivations to vaccines but also to ensure
information is provided in a range of languages and supported by effective
communications and a network of trusted individuals to provide messages
to their communities.
Members discussed a number of matters including:
Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting
to be held on Tuesday, 16th March, 2021

Page 10

The methods to approach frontline workers – Members queried whether the
NHS or GPs had up to date employment data by which to contact frontline
workers to receive a vaccination and, acknowledging vaccine hesitancy, the
approach to take. The challenge of identifying health and social care staff was
acknowledged, initial figures suggested 42,000 but the real total in Leeds was
nearer to 60,000. Those employed through NHS or LCC received an invitation
through their employer and work undertaken with the Third Sector and
independent Care Sector had identified remaining staff. In terms of vaccine
hesitancy amongst staff, the NHS had determined that vaccination should not
be mandatory but a choice to be encouraged and this informed work to
encourage take up, through peer to peer discussions, use of social media and
highlighting positive experiences. Although no figures were available on any
incidents mandating a vaccine in order to keep working in the sector, there
was awareness that a number of Care Homes were taking legal advice and
this issue was being debated at a national level.
Identifying trusted local voices to reach communities – the Board discussed
the importance of working with local community leaders or local celebrities to
encourage groups most hesitant to receive the vaccine. It was acknowledged
that some communities do not make use of social media or engage with
national media as much as others, so targeting those communities requires
new ways of communicating.
Frontline workers not in the top four groups identified for early vaccination –
Members questioned whether there was flexibility to encompass other
frontline workers not currently identified, such as police officers and
supermarket staff. While noting the NHS was only licensed to deliver the
vaccine to identified groups, it was reported that work had been done to
provide flexibility to encompass Third Sector, Voluntary Sector and unpaid
carers within the ‘social care providers’ group, however the categories reflect
those most affected by the First Wave of the pandemic and therefore deemed
at greater risk. Discussions were being held at a national level, recognising
the support to extend the categories but any change would need to have
regard to the timing of the cohort to be vaccinated.
The efficacy of some vaccines against some strains of the virus – Reference
was made to studies undertaken however the key message remained that all
vaccines are a protective measure against all strains of the virus prevalent in
the UK. The spread of the different strains was monitored and in Leeds, 80%
of the cases were the ‘Kent strain’ against which the Oxford Astra Zeneca
vaccine works well. There was no evidence to suggest that the ‘South African’
strain would surge like the Kent strain.
The capacity required to facilitate the second vaccine dose and availability of
the vaccine – planning had begun to structure the roll out of the second dose
to the four high priority groups at the same time as administering first doses to
the lower priority groups. Sufficient vaccine was available to complete the
planned vaccinations and supply will be reviewed once Government guidance
is available on the expanded cohorts. The current challenge remained vaccine
Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting
to be held on Tuesday, 16th March, 2021

Page 11

hesitancy and encouraging high level of community confidence in the vaccine
rather than lack of supply
(Councillor Latty and Councillor Lay left the meeting at this point)
Vaccination programme within prisons and for the Homeless – With regards to
HMP Wealstun, HMP Leeds and Wetherby Young Offenders Institute, all
healthcare staff had been vaccinated and discussions were ongoing over how
to reach residents over the age of 65. It was noted that the city centre Primary
Care Network had taken the decision to offer the vaccine to all Homeless
persons within the city.
The Chair acknowledged the amount of work undertaken to achieve the
current position regarding the vaccination programme and expressed the
thanks of the Board to all the teams involved in the programme.
RESOLVED – That the contents of the update report and the comments
made by the Scrutiny Board be noted.
(Councillor Wray left the meeting at this point)
74

Work Schedule
The Head of Democratic Services submitted a report that invited Members to
consider the Board’s Work Schedule for the remainder of the current
municipal year. It was noted that the March meeting would predominantly
focus on women’s health. However, following a request made by the Board, it
was also highlighted that there would be an additional agenda item scheduled
for March in relation to the Leeds Hearing and Balance Centre.
RESOLVED – That the report and outline work schedule presented be
agreed.

75

Date and Time of Next Meeting
Tuesday, 16th March 2021 at 1.30 pm (pre-meeting for all Board Members at
1.00 pm)

Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting
to be held on Tuesday, 16th March, 2021

Page 12

Agenda Item 7
Report author: Angela Brogden
Tel: 0113 3788661

Report of Head of Democratic Services
Report to Scrutiny Board (Adults, Health & Active Lifestyles)
Date: 16th March 2021
Subject: Hearing and Balance Centre
Yes

No

Has consultation been carried out?

Yes

No

Are there implications for equality and diversity and cohesion and
integration?

Yes

No

Will the decision be open for call-in?

Yes

No

Does the report contain confidential or exempt information?

Yes

No

Are specific electoral wards affected?
If yes, name(s) of ward(s):

If relevant, access to information procedure rule number:
Appendix number:

Summary
1.

Purpose of this report

1.1

This report presents information from the Leeds Teaching Hospitals NHS Trust on
plans to temporarily relocate the Hearing and Balance Centre. Representatives
from the Trust have also been invited to today’s meeting to discuss this further with
Board Members.

2.

Background information

2.1

The Hearing and Balance Centre provides general and specialist hearing loss
services to adult and paediatric patients and currently has its hub at Brotherton
Wing, Leeds General Infirmary with a spoke site at Wharfedale Hospital.

2.2

The Trust intends to accommodate the Hearing and Balance Centre within the new
hospital build ‘Hospitals of the Future’ at the Leeds General Infirmary from 2026
onwards. However, during the period of demolition and construction relating to the
new hospitals, there will be significant potential for service disruption due to
increased noise. The Trust has therefore explored options to temporarily relocate
the service.

3.

Main issues

3.1.

A briefing paper produced jointly by the Trust’s Director of Strategy, Head of Service
(Hearing and Balance Centre) and Head of Nursing is appended to this report for
Page 13

consideration by the Scrutiny Board. This includes details of the relocation
proposal; the initial engagement process undertaken with patients; and the service
delivery impacts on patients.
4.

Corporate considerations

4.1.

Consultation and engagement

4.1.1. The attached briefing paper gives an overview of the initial engagement process
undertaken with patients with regard to options for the relocation of the Hearing and
Balance Centre.
4.1.2. Representatives from the Leeds Teaching Hospitals NHS Trust have been invited to
today’s meeting to present and discuss the attached briefing paper.
4.2.

Equality and diversity / cohesion and integration

4.2.1 The Scrutiny Board Procedure Rules state that, where appropriate, all work
undertaken by Scrutiny Boards will ‘…review how and to what effect consideration
has been given to the impact of a service or policy on all equality areas, as set out
in the Council’s Equality and Diversity Scheme’.
4.2.2 The Scrutiny Board may therefore wish to explore any specific Equality and
Diversity issues relating to this matter.
4.3.

Council policies and the Best Council Plan

4.3.1 The terms of reference of the Scrutiny Boards promote a strategic and outward
looking Scrutiny function that focuses on the best council ambitions and objectives.
Climate Emergency
4.3.2 The Scrutiny Board may wish to consider any specific climate emergency or
sustainability issues relating to this matter.
4.4.

Resources, procurement and value for money

4.4.1 This report has no specific financial implications at this time. Any appropriate
matters will need to be taken into account if any additional scrutiny activity is
deemed appropriate and if any specific recommendations are being considered.
4.5.

Legal implications, access to information, and call-in

4.5.1. There are no specific legal implications arising from this report at this time. Any
specific matters may need to be taken into account if any additional scrutiny activity
is deemed appropriate and if any specific recommendations are being considered.
4.6.

Risk management

4.6.1 The information provided in this report largely relates to external organisations,
which may be subject to other considerations relating to risk management. Specific

Page 14

matters may need to be taken into account if any additional scrutiny activity is
deemed appropriate.
5.

Conclusions

5.1.

The briefing paper appended to this report presents information from the Leeds
Teaching Hospitals NHS Trust on plans to temporarily relocate the Hearing and
Balance Centre. Representatives from the Trust have been invited to today’s
meeting to present and discuss this matter further with Board Members.

6.

Recommendations

6.1

The Scrutiny Board (Adults, Health and Active Lifestyles) is asked to note the
content of this report and the attached briefing paper and agree any specific
scrutiny actions or future activity.

7.

Background documents1

7.1.

None.

The background documents listed in this section are available to download from the council’s website, unless they
contain confidential or exempt information. The list of background documents does not include published works.
1

Page 15

This page is intentionally left blank

Appendix 1 – LTHT Briefing Paper to the Adults, Health and Active Lifestyles Scrutiny Board

Date: 16 March 2021
1

Summary
The Hearing and Balance Centre provides general and specialist hearing loss
services to adult and paediatric patients. Due to the potential for noise from
demolition and construction works relating to the new hospital building programme
Hospitals of the Future to adversely affect the clinical effectiveness of the service it
is necessary to relocate the service to Seacroft Hospital. A process of patient
engagement has informed this decision with patients’ feedback taken on board in
developing the new unit. The Trust is investing £1.7m in the new unit which will
provide an improved environment for the service until the completion of the new
hospitals at Leeds General Infirmary.

2

Current Service
The Hearing & Balance Centre at Leeds Teaching Hospitals offer hearing loss
services and specialist secondary and tertiary care to both Audiology patients and
other related specialities in the hospital such as ENT, Neurology, Oncology and
Paediatrics. The service currently has its hub at Brotherton Wing, Leeds General
Infirmary with a spoke site at Wharfedale Hospital. LTHT runs a number of
community repair clinics at community sites across the city. More recently the
service has developed non-face-to-face clinical pathways and offers a postal
repair service. Prior to the pandemic the department was delivering 23,000
appointments per year.
The Hearing & Balance Centre in Brotherton Wing, LGI has been in a very poor
state of repair which has worsened in recent years. The condition of the estate
offers a poor patient experience and has been included on the Trust risk register.
Despite this, the service has consistently had positive feedback from patients with
94% of service users recommending the service in our latest FFT survey results.

3

The proposal and its impact on our patients
The Trust intends to accommodate the Hearing and Balance Centre within the
new hospital build Hospitals of the Future at the Leeds General Infirmary from
2026 onwards. During the period of demolition and construction relating to the new
hospitals, there will be significant potential for service disruption due to increased
noise and therefore the Trust has explored options to temporarily relocate the
service. The preference of the Trust during development works was to maintain
the delivery of this service on the LGI site, and several different options were
reviewed to this end. However, following specialist structural and acoustic
assessments this was deemed unfeasible and it was therefore necessary to
explore moving the location of the service. Seacroft Hospital, as well as a range
of commercial sites across the city, were explored by the service.

Page 17

Appendix 1 – LTHT Briefing Paper to the Adults, Health and Active Lifestyles Scrutiny Board

A patient engagement event was organised to seek the views of patients
regarding any potential impact of relocation, and to find out what was important to
patients when considering any options.
The engagement event was held in the Hearing and Balance Centre on 29
September and 1 October 2020 supported by the Trust Patient Carer and Public
Involvement team. Letters were handed to patients who attended across the
week, with the option of emailing in their views if they were not scheduled to
attend a clinic on the dates given. The event was also shared via social media on
Twitter with 33 patients contributing their views. (Further details are available if
required). It was acknowledged that a large face to face engagement event could
not be held due to Covid restrictions.
The feedback we received from patients demonstrated that many of them travel by
car, so parking was a key concern. Those using public transport expressed some
concerns but acknowledged that their visits are infrequent. The patients
recommended we consider the following points which will be incorporated into the
plans for the relocation to Seacroft:







Consider accessible parking when choosing a new venue.
Consider efficient sign posting for the new venue.
Consider how patients with disabilities may feel about navigating to a new
location.
Consider providing sufficient information and directions to the new venue,
prior to the appointment.
Consider promoting the British Red Cross transport service for those who
feel the venue might be too far away for them.
Consider a service at Wharfedale Hospital for patients living in North Leeds
- this already exists, and the team are checking to ensure appropriate
patients are offered appointments at Wharfedale wherever possible.

Following this patient engagement, it was agreed to invest in a building on the
Seacroft Hospital site which provides adequate space for the specialist testing
equipment as well as on-site parking and access by bus and road.
The Trust will be making a significant investment of around £1.75m in the move to
Seacroft Hospital which will offer modern clinic areas with new audiology testing
booths and provision for paediatric cases as well as adults. The booths will no
longer have hessian lined walls but new wipeable and soundproof material that will
conform to the newer standards for infection prevention and control.
Most patients attend the department very infrequently - usually once a year or
more commonly every 3-5 years. The service is currently supported by the Red
Cross in transporting those patients who have difficulties in accessing services to
clinics and home again. This service will continue after relocation.
On considering the options for relocation it was recognised that some elements of
the service would need to be maintained at the LGI as the ENT service is codependent on the adjacencies for efficiency and patient experience. Splitting the
hearing aid service from the balance and ENT dependent services was deemed
the best option.
Page 18

Appendix 1 – LTHT Briefing Paper to the Adults, Health and Active Lifestyles Scrutiny Board

Additionally, the St. James’s Hospital service, which predominantly offers repairs
and batteries, would relocate to Seacroft as well. The walk-in service at St.
James’s has been suspended during the Covid outbreak, with patients provided
with either community access or the postal service described later. This appears
to have had little impact on patients who have mostly been reluctant to attend
hospital outpatients, and in particular St. James’s, during the pandemic.
Letters have now gone out to patients advising them of the move and no PALS or
formal concerns have been received.
4

Service location overview
Services moving to Seacroft will be:


Adult Hearing test and hearing aid fittings – for new and follow-up patients



All paediatric services.

A new location could not be agreed in the Leeds Children’s Hospital due to work
across the LGI site which could impact on the hearing services. Additionally, due
to the weight of the soundproof rooms, relocation in any other appropriate location
at the LGI was not possible.
Services remaining where they are will be:
Balance testing which will remain on the LGI site - moving into the ENT
outpatients’ department in Brotherton Wing. Inpatient paediatric/newborn hearing
care and assessments will be provided in Leeds Children’s Hospital at the LGI.
Involvement in surgical procedures for adults and children will continue to be
provided.
Audiology Services at Wharfedale Hospital will remain unchanged
Repairs clinics for batteries, tubing and everyday problems with hearing
aids will continue to be run in multiple sites across the city, including libraries,
community hubs etc. to ensure there is access closer to home and access to
these services remains unchanged. We are supported in providing some of these
services by BIDS.
As part of the work to reduce the need to visit clinics and community hubs we do
offer some telephone appointments and provide some postal services for
standard hearing aid repairs, tubing and batteries. Patients can contact us on
leedsth-tr.hearingandbalance@nhs.net at any time or call 0113 3922484 if they
feel it is urgent.
Some face to face repairs are also being offered at our outreach clinics


Thorpe Park



Armley

Page 19

Appendix 1 – LTHT Briefing Paper to the Adults, Health and Active Lifestyles Scrutiny Board

5



Pudsey



Yeadon



Wetherby

Conclusion
Due to the demolition and construction works associated with the new hospital
building programme Hospitals of the Future it is necessary to relocate the Hearing
and Balance Centre to Seacroft Hospital until 2026. Although change can create
challenges for patients and staff, we considered that remaining at the LGI during
the building work was not possible and would compromise the clinical
effectiveness and patient experience of the service.
The move to Seacroft Hospital will create a modern, well equipped, fit for purpose
environment enabling the high-quality care provided by the service. The new unit
at Seacroft Hospital is expected to complete in April 2021 at which time the
service will move to its new location.

Michelle Foster, Head of Service, Hearing and Balance Centre
Deborah Hall, Head of Nursing
James Goodyear, Director of Strategy

Page 20

Agenda Item 8
Report author: Angela Brogden
Tel: 0113 3788661

Report of Head of Democratic Services
Report to Scrutiny Board (Adults, Health & Active Lifestyles)
Date: 16th March 2021
Subject: Leeds Fertility IVF service
Yes

No

Has consultation been carried out?

Yes

No

Are there implications for equality and diversity and cohesion and
integration?

Yes

No

Will the decision be open for call-in?

Yes

No

Does the report contain confidential or exempt information?

Yes

No

Are specific electoral wards affected?
If yes, name(s) of ward(s):

If relevant, access to information procedure rule number:
Appendix number:

Summary
1.

Purpose of this report

1.1

This report presents information from the Leeds Teaching Hospitals NHS Trust on
proposals to explore and test the market for opportunities to grow and sustain the
Leeds Fertility IVF service in light of a changing competitive market in Leeds.

1.2

Representatives from the Trust have also been invited to today’s meeting to discuss
this further with Board Members.

2.

Background information

2.1

The Leeds Teaching Hospitals NHS Trust (LTHT) provides both NHS and private
reproductive medicine services operating under the trading name Leeds Fertility.

2.2

Until recently, Leeds was the only major city in England without a private
commercial company providing IVF services. However, the Trust is aware that at
least one private competitor is now open in the city and the potential implications of
this are that Leeds Fertility would then be in direct competition with these providers
and potentially lose income and NHS staff to the new providers.

2.3

To mitigate the risk to the fertility services provided by Leeds Fertility and to ensure
they continue to be provided at Seacroft Hospital, Leeds Teaching Hospitals
proposes to tender the Leeds Fertility IVF service for a contract period of ten years.

Page 21

3.

Main issues

3.1

A briefing paper produced jointly by the Trust’s General Manager (Womens
Services CSU) and Clinical Director (Womens Services CSU) is appended to this
report for consideration by the Scrutiny Board. This includes an overview of the
current service; details of the proposal and its impact on patients; steps taken to
engage with staff and patients; and health and equality impacts associated with the
proposal.

4.

Corporate considerations

4.1.

Consultation and engagement

4.1.1. The attached briefing paper gives an overview of the steps taken by the Trust to
engage with staff and patients.
4.1.2. Representatives from the Leeds Teaching Hospitals NHS Trust have been invited to
today’s meeting to present and discuss the attached briefing paper.
4.2.

Equality and diversity / cohesion and integration

4.2.1 The Scrutiny Board Procedure Rules state that, where appropriate, all work
undertaken by Scrutiny Boards will ‘…review how and to what effect consideration
has been given to the impact of a service or policy on all equality areas, as set out
in the Council’s Equality and Diversity Scheme’.
4.2.2 The Scrutiny Board may therefore wish to explore any specific Equality and
Diversity issues relating to this matter.
4.3.

Council policies and the Best Council Plan

4.3.1 The terms of reference of the Scrutiny Boards promote a strategic and outward
looking Scrutiny function that focuses on the best council ambitions and objectives.
Climate Emergency
4.3.2 The Scrutiny Board may wish to consider any specific climate emergency or
sustainability issues relating to this matter.
4.4.

Resources, procurement and value for money

4.4.1 This report has no specific financial implications at this time. Any appropriate
matters will need to be taken into account if any additional scrutiny activity is
deemed appropriate and if any specific recommendations are being considered.
4.5.

Legal implications, access to information, and call-in

4.5.1. There are no specific legal implications arising from this report at this time. Any
specific matters may need to be taken into account if any additional scrutiny activity
is deemed appropriate and if any specific recommendations are being considered.

Page 22

4.6.

Risk management

4.6.1 The information provided in this report largely relates to external organisations,
which may be subject to other considerations relating to risk management. Specific
matters may need to be taken into account if any additional scrutiny activity is
deemed appropriate.
5.

Conclusions

5.1.

The briefing paper appended to this report presents information from the Leeds
Teaching Hospitals NHS Trust on proposals to explore and test the market for
opportunities to grow and sustain the Leeds Fertility IVF service in light of a
changing competitive market in Leeds. Representatives from the Trust have also
been invited to today’s meeting to present and discuss this matter further with Board
Members.

6.

Recommendations

6.1

The Scrutiny Board (Adults, Health and Active Lifestyles) is asked to note the
content of this report and the attached briefing paper and agree any specific
scrutiny actions or future activity.

7.

Background documents1

7.1.

None.

The background documents listed in this section are available to download from the council’s website, unless they
contain confidential or exempt information. The list of background documents does not include published works.
1

Page 23

This page is intentionally left blank

Appendix 1 – LTHT Briefing Paper to the Adults, Health and Active Lifestyles Scrutiny Board

Date: 16 March 2021

1

Summary
Intention to tender Leeds Fertility IVF service
Leeds Teaching Hospitals NHS Trust wishes to explore and test the market for
opportunities to grow and sustain the Leeds Fertility IVF service in light of a changing
competitive market in Leeds.
LTHT provides both NHS and private reproductive medicine services operating under the
trading name Leeds Fertility. In relation to private patient services, those are delivered in
conjunction with Genesis Healthcare LLP. The income LTHT receives for providing private
services supports the provision of our wider NHS services and has enabled further capital
investment in the fertility service for the benefit of NHS and private patients.
In the last 10 years there has been an increasing trend nationally towards privately run
fertility clinics, often in chains operated by large commercial organisations. In the south of
England almost all NHS and private fertility work is undertaken in these private clinics. In
the north it is common for large NHS teaching hospitals to run fertility clinics, but for
private clinics to set up in competition, undertaking private and NHS work. Overtime the
increase in private provision can lead to a reduction in work in NHS hospitals with a
consequent loss of income and risk that services become financially unsustainable.
Until recently, Leeds was the only major city in England without a private commercial
company providing IVF services and we are aware that at least one private competitor is
now open in the city. The potential implications of this are that Leeds Fertility would then
be in direct competition with these providers and potentially lose income and NHS staff to
the new providers. In this highly specialised field, staff loss could have a substantial
negative impact on the service at Seacroft. This would also potentially have a knock-on
effect on other specialist women’s services provided by the Trust since there would be
loss of critical mass for reproductive medicine services.
To mitigate the risk to the fertility services provided by Leeds Fertility and to ensure they
continue to be provided at Seacroft Hospital, Leeds Teaching Hospitals proposes to
tender the Leeds Fertility IVF service for a contract period of ten years.
In developing our plans, we have reviewed the latest guidance from NHS England on
planning service change and notes that this suggests “Tendering a service by itself is
unlikely to be a significant change unless the new service specification will provide a
substantial change in service.”

Page 25

Appendix 1 – LTHT Briefing Paper to the Adults, Health and Active Lifestyles Scrutiny Board

2

Current Service
Leeds Fertility is based at Seacroft Hospital and treats 2200 new referrals annually in
secondary and tertiary care.
Approximately 1300 IVF/ICSI treatments (in vitro fertilisation, Intracytoplasmic sperm
injection) and 700 frozen embryo transfers are performed each year. In addition the unit
also undertake egg donation, sperm donation, surrogacy and a number of other
treatments. NICE guidelines recommend three cycles of IVF, and Clinical Commissioning
Groups (CCGs) decide local NHS policies for how many IVF cycles they will commission.
The West Yorkshire CCGs currently commission one cycle of IVF. At Leeds Fertility, 55%
of IVF and ICSI cycles are NHS and 45% privately funded.
Leeds Fertility is one of the top performing IVF services in the country, ranked 3rd in UK
(2019), as shown by a live birth rate of 39% vs 23% nationally, with the lowest multiple
pregnancy rate (a recognised measure of service quality). It is a flagship department with
an international reputation for clinical excellence, research & innovation and is the only
unit in UK to offer the complete spectrum of reproductive medicine services for NHS
patients. Recent successes include the development of one of the UK’s largest preimplantation genetic diagnosis services, and the establishment of a quaternary-referral
service for tissue preservation in children with cancer.
Leeds Fertility is highly rated, receiving 5 out of 5 stars following recent HFEA (Human
Fertility and Embryo Authority) inspection, and 4 out of 5 stars from patients rating the
clinic on the HFEA website.
Leeds Fertility is the only IVF clinic in West Yorkshire with its own embryology laboratory,
so it also has a number of independently run satellite clinics including in Calderdale and
Huddersfield and Bradford which send patients to the unit for their care.

3

The proposal and its impact on our patients
The proposal is to tender Leeds Fertility services (NHS and private provision) for a period
of 7 years with the option to extend for a further 3 years. The Trust’s intention to tender
these services has been discussed with Leeds Clinical Commissioning Group and with
NHS England. Both organisations are supportive of the approach to explore opportunities
by testing the market with a view to maintaining the critical mass of activity needed to
enable the full range of services to be offered to NHS patients in a cost-effective way.
It is expected that the tender process will take around 12 weeks, and if the Trust decides
to award the contract there would then follow a 6 to 12-month transition period. The
tender will be based on providing the service at Seacroft Hospital to at least the existing
quality and experience standards meaning there should be minimal impact for patients.
The scope of the tender is focussed on assisted conception treatments provided in the
unit. NHS patients referred to Leeds Teaching Hospitals will continue to receive specialist
reproductive medicine expertise in their diagnosis and treatment and would only be
referred onto the new provider when they require treatment at the assisted conception
unit.
The fundamental objective of this process is to continue to be able to deliver a costeffective, high quality and specialised service for NHS patients in Leeds and the wider
region.

Page 26

Appendix 1 – LTHT Briefing Paper to the Adults, Health and Active Lifestyles Scrutiny Board

Issue

What this means for our patients.

1: Location

Our intention is for the service to be maintained at Seacroft
Hospital. The current unit was purpose built in 2010 and is
easily accessible to patients, being on main bus routes and
with good parking facilities.

2: Services tendered

We expect all the clinical services currently provided at
Leeds Fertility to be maintained and this is reflected in the
proposed tender. This will mean that the service will
continue to provide the normal suite of IVF treatment and
interventions as well as the specialised services developed
in the department over recent years including preimplantation genetic diagnosis and treatment and tissue
preservation for children with cancer.

3: Quality of Care

The fertility sector is closely regulated by the HFEA and has
key quality, safety and success indicators against which all
fertility clinics are monitored. The contracts being developed
to support this process have explicit expectations around the
maintenance of a high quality, safe service and will be part
of the contract management process.
We anticipate there will be no negative impact to the quality
of care that patients receive at the unit, and in fact the
potential benefits of being part of a company dedicated to
providing IVF services are the benefits for training and
education and research in this area.

4. Patient Support

There has been a real growth in the use of internet
resources, social media and digital applications to support
patients to choose where to receive their treatment, to
educate them and to provide them with support throughout
their IVF journey. Companies dedicated to delivering IVF
services across a number of clinics have developed
excellent resources in recent years to better support patients
and this would be an improvement on what we are currently
able to provide patients at Leeds Fertility.

Page 27

Appendix 1 – LTHT Briefing Paper to the Adults, Health and Active Lifestyles Scrutiny Board

4

Patient and Staff Engagement
The Trust recognises the importance of engaging staff and patients in this process and
has taken the following steps:
Staff




Staff meetings with all of the staff at Leeds Fertility to discuss the context and
plans to test the market.
Staff questionnaire undertaken to assess what is important to them in the
development of a tender.
Staff engagement meetings held to discuss important issues for staff - these
issues are now reflected in the tender documentation.

Patient Engagement
 The key patient experience metrics for the service, including patient advice and
liaison enquiries, complaints and results from our quarterly service patient
engagement questionnaire have been reviewed to inform the service specification.
 Listening events are being undertaken virtually 1st-14th March 2021 (due to the
COVI-19 pandemic) to understand patient views of the service so that these inform
the service specification. The Trust will actively promote these to all the relevant
communities who use the service.
 A patient and public representative will be included as part of the tender
evaluation panel considering any bids.
The most recent patient experience survey (December 2020) rated our services at Leeds
Fertility highly:
Area

Score out of 5

Administrative processes

4/5

Clinical Care

4.2/5

Quality of information provided

4.2/5

Environment including privacy and dignity

4.5/5

Patients identified the following areas as potential improvements for the service:
improved telephone access for information and advice - patient advice/ enquiry line,
named nurse/ team contact to improve communication regarding their ongoing care.
Access to a patient supporting mobile application and greater personalisation of care.

5

What are the health and equality impacts associated with the proposal? If
appropriate, how will these be addressed and/or mitigated?
The Trust is undertaking an Equality and Quality Impact Assessment to inform the
specification.
Leeds Fertility has developed some specific services to support LGBTQ+ patients
including the development of a dedicated clinic for fertility preservation of transgender
patients and a surrogacy service for gay men and these services will be maintained in any
transfer of service.
Throughout our engagement activity we have worked to ensure we are highlighting and
address any cultural or religious impacts associated with proposed changes

Page 28

Appendix 1 – LTHT Briefing Paper to the Adults, Health and Active Lifestyles Scrutiny Board

6

Summary

Leeds Teaching Hospitals NHS Trust is seeking to explore and test the market for
opportunities to grow and sustain the Leeds Fertility IVF service in light of a changing
competitive market in Leeds.
There are no plans to change the service for patients, rather to maintain the current high
quality and specialisation of services that are delivered. The decision to award a contract
to a new provider is dependent on the quality of the bids submitted and the assessment
LTHT makes of those bids.
Staff and patients’ views have been considered in the development of the tender, and are
important aspects of the evaluation of any bids that are received.

Claire Goodman
General Manager, Womens Services CSU
Dr Kelly Cohen
Clinical Director, Womens Services CSU

Page 29

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 9
Report authors: Kathryn Ingold / Tim
Taylor. Tel: 07981 270181 / 07981
278231

Report of: Director of Public Health
Report to: Scrutiny Board (Adults, Health and Active Lifestyles)
Date: 16th March 2021
Subject: Women’s Health in Leeds
Are specific electoral wards affected?

Yes

No

Has consultation been carried out?

Yes

No

Are there implications for equality and diversity and cohesion and
integration?

Yes

No

Will the decision be open for call-in?

Yes

No

Does the report contain confidential or exempt information?

Yes

No

If yes, name(s) of ward(s):

If relevant, access to information procedure rule number:
Appendix number:
Summary
1. Main issues


The COVID-19 pandemic has negatively impacted women’s health.



Whilst Primary Care continued to see patients, routine invites from central
screening services for breast and cervical screening were paused during the first
wave. Uptake rates have reduced, are lower than the national target and lower in
deprived Leeds.



Maternity Services have continued to support women but are unable to facilitate
women having partners present in some parts of the pathway due to constraints
around social distancing and the current estate.



Reproductive health has been negatively affected. The pandemic has impacted
women’s ability to access contraception within their local community services.
There has also been a significant reduction in the number of C-Card sites that are
able to support young people with sexual health information, advice and condoms.
Nationally there is an increase in women seeking information and advice on
abortions and emergency contraception via national helplines.

Page 31



Women’s Lives Leeds consultation found that that women reported
disproportionately negative impacts of COVID-19 including: an increase in domestic
violence, childcare and home schooling, caring responsibilities; working in frontline
jobs and therefore increased exposure to COVID-19, worries around job insecurity,
household chores, the emotional burden of keeping things together and mental
health issues.

2. Best Council Plan Implications
In order to deliver our ambitions to be compassionate and caring city with a strong
economy and tackling poverty and reducing inequalities; we need to take proactive
action to consider the health and wellbeing needs of women in Leeds.
3. Resource Implications
This report is a system report rather than a council report.
4. Recommendations
The Scrutiny Board is asked to:
a)
b)
c)

d)

Note the content of the report.
Support plans to improve cancer screening, maternity services and
reproductive health.
Support work to ensure Leeds is a United Nations Women Friendly City with
the aim of addressing inequalities and the specific impact of the pandemic on
women’s physical and mental health and wellbeing.
Encourage services to engage with girls and women’s hubs.

Page 32

1.

Purpose of this report

1.1

This report provides an update on key women’s health issues and how COVID-19
has impacted. The report includes a specific focus on breast and cervical cancer
screening, maternal health and reproductive health and also includes information of
the impact of COVID-19 on women in Leeds gathered through consultation carried
out by Women’s Lives Leeds.

2.

Background information

2.1

In 2019 Leeds City Council published The State of Women’s Health, which
produced a comprehensive picture of life, health and wellbeing for women and girls.
This report provides:




A brief update on actions delivered following publication of The State of
Women’s Health.
Updates on specific areas of interest flagged by the scrutiny committee of
breast and cervical cancer screening, maternal health and reproductive
health.
Information on key health issues reported by girls and women in Leeds as a
result of the COVID-19 pandemic.

3.

Main issues

3.1

Female Life expectancy in Leeds

3.1.1 Female life expectancy at birth in Leeds has been static since 2011-13. This lack of
change mirrors the national picture, female life expectancy for England has barely
altered either. Female life expectancy in Leeds is now consistently about 1.5 years
below England. In terms of links to deprivation, in 2011-13 there was a 6.9 year
gap in female life expectancy between the most and least deprived deciles in the
city. The latest data for 2017-19 shows a 7.7 year gap, so inequalities are widening.
This is at least partly due to a fall in the most deprived decile of the city. England
has a similar widening of the gap over the same time period. For context, the male
position is similar and has been static since around 2011-13, with a slowly
increasing gap between top and bottom deciles
3.2

The State of Women’s Health 2019

3.2.1 The broader context for women’s health in Leeds is described in The State of
Women’s Health in Leeds report.
The main findings were:
 In Leeds, women and girls still face a number of inequalities and for many life is
becoming more complex.
 The health and wellbeing of women living in poverty and experiencing inequality
is worsening.
 Women and girls’ lives are becoming more complex and including more ‘risky’
behaviours which have long-term impacts on their physical and emotional
wellbeing.
 Young girls are experiencing more mental health problems.
 An ageing population sees more women at risk of dementia, frailty and falls.
Page 33




Women’s reproductive and maternity health issues are not always supported.
Safety is a priority for women and girls in Leeds.

3.2.2 Since the report was published in 2019 it has contributed to a richer picture of the
Leeds Joint Strategic Assessment and articulates a series of recommendations to
support the ambition of the Leeds Health and Wellbeing Strategy for Leeds to be
the Best City for Health and Wellbeing for all of our citizens. The State of Women’s
Health in Leeds and the State of Men’s Health in Leeds reports have been:











3.3

Highlighted in the next Leeds Integrated Market Position Statement developed
by the Integrated Commissioning Executive (ICE).
Shared as best practice examples regionally and nationally with Public Health
England.
Presented at NHS Leeds Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG) Target events.
Reflected on and discussed with commissioners of services and providers to
consider how to take forward the findings and key areas of action. This includes
auditing new and existing commissioning specifications to ensure gender is
appropriately represented.
Shared at workshops for key commissioners have been held to go through the
report. The learning has included auditing new and existing commissioning
specifications to ensure gender is appropriately represented.
Presented at the Joint Health and Wellbeing Board and key Boards across the
city.
Used by Human Resources to produce a resource containing help, support and
information which may be useful for the council’s female staff and their
managers. It offers suggestions about what support can be arranged in the
workplace, some advice on what women can do to improve their own health and
wellbeing and links to local organisations.
Used as part of the bid for Leeds to gain United Nations Women Friendly Leeds
status.

Breast and cervical cancer screening

3.3.1 Whilst Primary Care continued to see patients, routine invites from central
screening services for breast and cervical screening were paused during the first
wave of the pandemic. The numbers of patients contacting practices for smears
also fell, and overall appointment capacity was reduced due to the need to adhere
to social distancing and PPE requirements. During this time, the numbers of people
contacting their GP with concerning signs of cancer also decreased significantly. In
Leeds we are working together as an integrated system to mitigate against the
health impacts of this, to get screening rates back up to pre COVID-19 rates as
swiftly and safely as possible and to prevent a widening of the health inequalities
gap.
3.3.2 Given that routine invites into cancer screening services were paused for a period
of time, it can be expected that this will be reflected in the cancer screening uptake
data. Latest published data (June 2020) shows that the breast screening uptake
rate in Leeds was 68.7%. This is a decrease from 71.2% (June 2019) and is below
the national target of 80%. The data also shows that breast screening uptake is
lower in deprived Leeds with uptake being 63.5% in deprived decile 1 and 65.4% in
deprived deciles, 1-4. (June 2020).

Page 34

3.3.3 Latest published data (Oct 2020) shows that the cervical screening uptake rate in
Leeds was 70.6%. This is a decrease from 73.3% (Oct 2019) and is below the
national target of 80%. The data also shows that cervical screening uptake is lower
in deprived Leeds with uptake being 65.2% in deprived decile 1 and 67.2% in
deprived decile 1-4 (Oct 2020). There is also a clear inequality in screening uptake
across age ranges with women in the lower age range (25-49) having a 68.5%
uptake rate compared with women in the higher age range (50-64) where uptake is
75.8% (Oct 2020).
3.3.4 Prior to COVID, we already had a range of programmes in Leeds, led by the Cancer
Prevention, Awareness and Increasing Screening Uptake work stream of the Leeds
Cancer Programme, designed to raise awareness of the signs and symptoms of
cancer, increase the uptake of cancer screening and reduce health inequalities by
focussing on areas of deprivation and specific groups where awareness of cancer
signs and symptoms and screening uptake is lower.
3.3.5 During the first wave of the pandemic a small cancer screening task group was
established made up of representatives from across the cancer system in Leeds.
The group has worked together to understand the scale of the demand, the capacity
across the system to deal with this demand and has informed how programmes
needed to adapt and flex to support people to uptake cancer screening and to
access primary care should they have concerning signs or symptoms. Excellent
local level work has been delivered through our programmes:


The Leeds Cancer Awareness Service commissioned by Public Health, Leeds
City Council, takes a local level community outreach approach to increasing
awareness and uptake of screening in areas of highest need with a focus on
breast, cervical, bowel and lung screening. They have continued to get
messages out to local communities throughout the pandemic emphasising the
importance of accessing primary care with worrying signs and symptoms and
taking part in screening. They have adapted their delivery model in response to
the pandemic, maximising on social media, local media, virtual attendance at
groups etc.



Primary Care Cancer Screening Champions commissioned by NHS Leeds
Clinical Commissioning Group, are GP practice based staff in the most deprived
areas in Leeds with protected time to support and motivate eligible patients to
uptake both bowel and cervical cancer screening. This year 36 practices signed
up to the scheme which is excellent given the challenging circumstances.
Workshops were delivered for champions in October 2020 to support them in
their roles and enable them to share best practice and work together to
overcome challenges that the pandemic has brought about.



Cancer Wise Leeds commissioned by Yorkshire Cancer Research and led by
Public Health, Leeds City Council, has continued to drive forward and develop a
network of 9 Cancer Screening and Awareness co-ordinators working as part of
local Primary Care Networks (and covering all PCN in Leeds) to understand
local need and assets and to develop tailored activity to support awareness and
screening uptake. Through analysis on PCN level data and engagement with
local women, one co-ordinator found that women weren’t coming forward for
cervical screening due to clinics being held during working hours. As a result the
co-ordinator worked with the PCN to establish and test a Saturday morning
cervical screening hub. Due to the success of this approach, other PCN areas
Page 35

are exploring options to develop similar models and will be supported by their
Cancer Wise Leeds Co-ordinators to do so. The programme has also
developed a video for use across Leeds encouraging women to access cervical
screening and has driven forward local media work as part of cervical cancer
prevention week.


3.4

As part of a series of events by NHS Leeds Clinical Commissioning Group using
social media channels to target a wider range of audiences, we coordinated and
presented a ‘Cancer Facts and Fictions’ event on the 25th November with three
Leeds GPs and a cancer specialist from Cancer Research UK. The session
covered Signs and Symptoms, Cancer Myths and the ‘Importance of Screening.
The Latest viewing numbers total 1,700 as at Dec 2020.

Maternal health

3.4.1 The current maternity strategy (2015-2020) requires refreshing to continue the
drive to improve mother and infant outcomes with a particular focus on reducing
health inequalities. Public Health refreshed the Leeds Maternity Health Needs
Assessment (HNA) earlier this year (Goldsborough, 2020). This valuable resource
underpins the refresh of the maternity strategy. The HNA establishes a clear need
to prioritise a focus on reducing health inequalities.
Some of the key findings are listed below;











There are approximately 10,000 births per year in Leeds, a third to women
residing in deprived Leeds.
There has been an increase in the proportion of births to Black, Asian and
Minority Ethnic women since 2009, with ethnic minority groups overrepresented
in deprived Leeds and an increase in births to non-British born mothers.
Despite a significant and continued reduction (over 50%) in under 18 conception
rates during the last decade, Leeds continues to have higher rates than both the
national and regional average with the majority of births being to mothers living
in deprivation.
There has been a rise in the infant mortality rate in Leeds since the last HNA,
with a persistent gap between deprived Leeds and Leeds overall.
Smoking in pregnancy rates in Leeds are higher than national rates and are
significantly higher amongst women who are under 18 years old at time of
delivery, with no improvement since 2014.
The percentage of mothers with obesity in Leeds has been rising, with a greater
percentage residing in deprived Leeds.
Breastfeeding initiation rates in Leeds are lower than national rates, but have
increased since 2014; improvements have been observed in deprived Leeds.
The White population in Leeds has the lowest breastfeeding initiation and
continuation rates of all ethnicities. Young mothers are also much less likely to
initiate breastfeeding.
The percentage of mothers attending their booking appointment before 10
weeks gestation has increased in Leeds overall since 2012/2013. However, the
percentage of mothers from deprived Leeds attending before 10 weeks has
slightly dropped and thus the inequalities gap has widened. All minority groups
other than Indian show below average attendance rates before 11 weeks.

Page 36

 The complexities of women and families accessing services in Leeds are
increasing; in terms of both physical health and social factors. Staff report a rise
in the number of women homeless and sofa surfing.
 Data collection, reporting and sharing needs to be more robust with regards to
women with complex needs. This information is crucial to determine gaps in
service provision, ascertain whether needs are being met, share best practice
and ultimately work to reduce health inequalities.
In addition to local data and the voice and experience of our local population,
national policy also shapes our local strategy.
3.4.2 There is a significant national focus on the improvement of maternity services.
Better Births (2016) highlighted various priorities and aims, which have been taken
forward via the national maternity transformation programme. In summary these
require:









3.4.3

Personalised care centred on the woman her baby and her family based around
their needs and their decisions where they have genuine choice informed by
unbiased information.
Continuity of carer, to ensure safe care based on a relationship of mutual trust
and respect in line with the woman’s decisions.
Safer care, with professionals working together across boundaries to ensure
rapid referral, and access to the right care in the right place; leadership for a
safety culture within and across organisations; and investigation, honesty and
learning when things go wrong.
Better postnatal and perinatal mental health care, to address the historic
underfunding and provision in these two vital areas, which can have a significant
impact on the life chances and wellbeing of the woman, baby and family.
Multi-professional working, breaking down barriers between midwives,
obstetricians and other professionals to deliver safe and personalised care for
women and their babies.
Working across boundaries to provide and commission maternity services to
support personalisation, safety and choice, with access to specialist care
whenever needed.
A payment system that fairly and adequately compensates providers for
delivering high quality care to all women, whilst supporting commissioners to
commission for personalisation, safety and choice.
More recently, Implementing Phase Three of the NHS Response to COVID-19
(2020) revises the key trajectories expected in line with the current context. Of
particular relevance are:







Develop digitally enabled care pathways in ways which increase inclusion.
Accelerate preventative programmes which proactively engage those at greatest
risk of poor health outcomes; including more accessible flu vaccinations
Increase the continuity of maternity carers to 35% of women by March 2021. As
part of this, by March, systems should ensure that the proportion of Black and
Asian women and those from the most deprived neighbourhoods on continuity of
carer pathways meets and preferably exceeds the proportion in the population
as a whole.
Plans should set out how insight into different types of risk and wider
vulnerability within their communities will be improved.
Page 37

3.4.4

Refresh of the Leeds Maternity Strategy

3.4.5

The Maternity Strategy programme board has worked to identify key priorities for
the maternity refresh, which have been informed by the HNA, the comprehensive
feedback from women and their families, the reconfiguration plans and the wider
policy context.

3.4.6 Five priorities have been identified as set out in the table below:






Preparation for parenthood
Personalised care
Perinatal mental health
The maternity reconfiguration
Reducing health inequalities

3.4.7 In order for the CCG and NHS England specialised commissioners to be assured
that they are achieving best outcomes for their population in the given resource and
applying the principles of the health inequalities framework, and in line with national
and local policy driving increased antenatal delivery in the community via
community hubs and increased telemedicine, the centralisation to one site was
supported with an alongside implementation plan, which will continue to evidence
delivery of the government’s tests of service change and will comprehensively
addresses the following issues:




70% of antenatal contacts are currently delivered in the community and this will
increase. Better Births national maternity policy is clear on the need to increase
community maternity support via the creation of community hubs. In Leeds a
priority will be to develop a community hub near the St James’s site.
Maximizing the use of digital telemedicine to increase access and deliver more
appointments in the community and to ensure digital inclusion is addressed
Page 38








within this work stream. Significant acceleration of digital delivery has occurred
in response to Covid-19.
LTHT has an award winning service that supports the BAME population
(Haamla); this expertise will be maximized to engage with BAME communities
(particularly those near the St James’s site) to ensure equity of access, positive
experience and culturally sensitive services.
The clinical and architectural design of the new maternity and neonatal units will
work with families to ensure a positive personalised care experience.
Increased capacity of parking at the LGI site for mums and their partners is
planned through a new dedicated MSCP.
NHS colleagues will work with council colleagues with an aim to influence bus
providers to have routes stopping near the LGI site.
Colleagues across NHS commissioners and providers, LA, will work together to
continually review maternity outcomes and infant mortality, to ensure progress is
made faster in more deprived and vulnerable communities in line with the
ambitions set out in the Left Shift Blueprint.

3.4.8

Partners at Appointments

3.4.9

It is recognised that it is critical that both pregnant women and their partners are
involved at all stages of the maternity journey. Maternity services in Leeds are
currently provided within estates which do not easily facilitate social distancing,
which has proven a particular challenge to enabling partners to attend at all
stages of the maternity journey. Partners can currently attend all scan
appointments and all parts of active labour, and are able to book time slots to
attend postnatal wards.

3.4.10

Leeds Teaching Hospitals are continuing to rapidly explore how to expand this
even further, including scoping building work to change the layout of clinical
spaces. LTHT are also scoping the options around the implementation of lateral
flow tests for partners, and will be making recommendations on what can feasibly
be progressed in this area in March 2021.

3.4.11

Perinatal and Postnatal Mental Health

3.4.12

The CCG has have commissioned some peer support infrastructure work to
provide better training and support for our peer supporters, both within
commissioned services and volunteers.

3.4.13

At a West Yorkshire and Harrogate footprint, there continues a large programme
of work to improve support for women and partners in the perinatal period. We
are building on this locally by giving increased funding to a communications
agency, to make sure co-produced messages about perinatal mental health
reach all the families in Leeds.

3.4.14

Through the Leeds Mental Wellbeing Service, we are prioritising support for
people in the perinatal period who are experiencing low to moderate mental
health issues, and continue to commission specialist support from voluntary
sector organisations to broaden the offer of different services available.

3.4.15

The CCG continued to expand the community perinatal mental health service for
women with moderate to severe mental health issues, and have doubled the
number of women who this service supports.
Page 39

3.4.16

Through the Leeds Best Start Plan, in particular Outcome 2, parents
experiencing stress are identified early and supported. There are programmes of
work delivered by partners focussing on strengthening perinatal mental health via
antenatal and postnatal parenting programmes. Early Start services have revised
their antenatal contact and Maternal Mood Pathway to strengthen and better
integrate the support they provide mothers, and the NSPCC Pregnancy in mind
antenatal programme is available and embedded in the local service offer. Antistigma campaign resources have also been developed and promoted via
relevant Maternity, Early Start and Mental Health Services, plus there has been
an online campaign targeting members of the public via the Mindwell website. To
address additional issues that compound poor mental health, including the use of
drugs and alcohol and domestic violence, additional specialist programmes are in
place.

3.4.17

Women from particular ethnic backgrounds are more likely to suffer from
perinatal mental health issues, and potentially less likely to access appropriate
support. Our specialist perinatal mental health service has employed a BAME
engagement worker to do specific work with communities in Leeds to improve
access to appropriate services.

3.4.18

Needs of women from black Asian and minority ethnic communities

3.4.19

In Leeds, as mirrored nationally, black and Asian women are more likely to suffer
from poor outcomes when using maternity services. We have prioritised reducing
health inequalities within our draft Leeds Maternity Strategy from 2021, and
intend to work with these communities, and community-based organisations with
knowledge around the specific cultural and health needs of these communities,
to co-produce solutions to help ensure that maternity services better meet these
needs. Providing continuity of carer can help improve outcomes for women and
babies, and have targeted our continuity of carer teams to be based in localities
which are more deprived, and localities which have a higher proportion of families
from black, Asian and other minority ethnic backgrounds. We are working with
business intelligence colleagues to be able to monitor our outcomes by ethnicity
and deprivation, and will use this to further target our future work.

3.5

Reproductive health

3.5.1

Women (including young women under the age of 18) living in areas of deprivation
are known to be disproportionately affected by poor sexual health including being
more likely to have an unplanned or unwanted pregnancy and well as being at
higher risk of Chlamydia (<25’s).


Despite reducing under 18’s conception rates by almost 50% in the last decade,
the rate in Leeds rate is still higher than the national average. Strong empirical
evidence supports that access to quality assured, consistent relationship and
sexual health information within statutory relationship and sex education
lessons and timely access to non -judgemental sexual health and contraceptive
services, information and support (including emergency contraception) is key to
mitigating this health inequality. Although under 18 conception rates in Leeds
are higher than the national and regional average, the year on year rate
continues to decline with the most up to date annual data (2018) showing a rate
of 23.8 conceptions per 1000 young women (274 actual conceptions). In
Page 40






3.5.2

comparison to the previous decade (1998) which recorded 50.4 conceptions per
1000 young women (641 conceptions) this shows a reduction of 52.7%.
Emergency Hormonal Contraception (morning after pill) is available for free to all
women via 38 community pharmacies, Leeds Sexual Health or through a
women’s GP.
Contraception, including Long Acting Reversible Contraceptive methods (LARC)
are available via a women’s GP as well as via the main Leeds Sexual Health
Service. The overall uptake of LARC methods such as copper coils, IUS’s and
contraceptive implants in Leeds is higher than the national average and is
testament to the excellent services available to women within the city. PreCOVID, work was underway to reverse the decline in under 18s using LARC
methods and increase use in all women, to mirror the increased use by student
population.
Leeds has the largest C-Card scheme in the country offering free condoms, STI
screening and pregnancy testing to young people under the age of 25 within
community based sites.
Impacts of COVID on Sexual and reproductive health

3.5.3 During the COVID-19 pandemic there is likely to be an increased number of
women having sex without using a form of contraception which could lead to a
large increase in unplanned/unwanted pregnancies as well as an increase in
undiagnosed STI’s.






The impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on a woman’s ability to access
contraception especially LARC methods, is a concern locally, regionally and
nationally. Despite both the Faculty of Sexual and Reproductive Health and the
Royal College of GP’s producing guidance that stresses the importance of
continued access to contraception, local intelligence (mirrored regionally and
nationally) reveals a decline in the number of women accessing contraceptive
services via their own GP. Many GPs have reduced face to face activity instead
offering bridging methods, practices are not able to offer LARC service as
trained fitters are shielding as well as anecdotal feedback that many women
presume that access to contraception via their GP has been paused due to the
pandemic. Leeds sexual Health has seen an increase in the number of women
seeking support with LARC which is felt to be as a direct result of the reduction
of women accessing it via primary care.
NHS choices have reported an increase in women seeking information on local
abortion services and access to emergency contraception. However, there is
actually a reduction in the number of women accessing EHC via our scheme
during COVID. This may be due to a reduction in students who often use EHC
but could also signal barrier to accessing services/ a perception amongst
women that services aren’t available. Data are not available yet to tell whether
abortion rates have increased locally during COVID-19.
Many C-Card sites are unable to offer regular face to face contact with young
people, but have mobilised efforts to see/contact young people where possible,
e.g. outside, via detached youth work, over the phone, text ChatHealth, virtual
meetings. A system has been set up to allow young people to request condoms
posting home. Concerns: digital divide – some young people not able to access
own phone/web easily, privacy/confidentiality issues at home, postal service
only for those signed up to C-Card scheme – work is ongoing to allow young
people to be virtually registered to scheme safely. 16-24 year olds can order
Page 41

postal STI screening kits online or access them from sexual health pharmacies,
however, under 16s can only access in person from community sites or Leeds
Sexual Health – so access more limited at the moment. Concerns that as
schools, colleges are not seeing pupils regularly, they may not be aware of
issues they would previously have spotted and offered support/signposting on.
3.5.4

The CCG is delivering work to improve reproductive health services.
Developments include:

3.5.5

Futures - In partnership, the CCG continues to deliver the Futures service which
provides intense therapeutic support for young women who have had a child
removed. This service has evaluated well.

3.5.6

Female Genital Mutilation - The CCG successfully piloted a service for adults who
had suffered from female genital mutilation (FGM). This service provides wraparound physical health, mental health, and advocacy support. Following the end of
this pilot, we have gained agreement to fund this service on an ongoing basis. We
continue to commission a local specialist service for children who have suffered
from FGM.

3.5.7

Contraception - In partnership with LCC and Leeds Sexual Health, the CCG have
trained midwives who work with more vulnerable groups to deliver long-acting
reversible contraception to reduce unwanted pregnancy rates. We have also
introduced the insertion of long-acting reversible contraception at elective
caesarean sections, to increase the ease by which women can access
contraception.

3.5.8

Termination - The CCG are currently listening to what is important to women who
are accessing termination services. We will be commissioning these services, with
new services to launch in October, with the aim of making them more accessible,
better linked into wider support services, and to enable women to access
terminations close to home wherever possible.

3.5.9

Menopause - A new local community-based dedicated menopause clinic has been
launched to provide extra support for Leeds women going through the
menopause. In addition to CCG work, in May 2019 the lead member for women
enquired about the idea of a menopause café within the city to provide peer
support. There was a menopause café session which facilitated peer support in
the St Georges Centre in Middleton. During the COVID-19 pandemic this has
been replaced by an online menopause meet up run by Women Friendly Leeds. It
is held on the first Wednesday of every month and provides an opportunity for
peer support.

3.5.10 Endometriosis - Leeds Teaching Hospitals NHS Trust are taking forward
developments to improve the service given to women with potential endometriosis
in a holistic way through a dedicated pelvic pain clinic. As part of training on
women’s health for GPs, a specific training session was delivered on how best to
manage healthcare for women experiencing pelvic pain.
3.6

Women’s experiences of health during the COVID-19 pandemic

3.6.1

Women’s Lives Leeds undertook a survey in June 2020 to understand the
effects of COVID-19 on women. An online survey was undertaken between 1st
Page 42

and 14th June. 979 responses were received.
The results were as follows:






3.6.2

85% (829 respondents) agreed that women bear the brunt of childcare and other
caring responsibilities more than men.
57% (558 respondents) agreed that there are more women than men in frontline
jobs, therefore having a greater risk of exposure to the virus.
90% (877 respondents) agreed that women’s experience of domestic violence is
likely to increase during lockdown.
72% (702 respondents) agreed that BAME women are disproportionately
affected by COVID-19 compared with white British women.
Only 43% (424 respondents) agreed that women are more likely to be affected
by mental health issues as a direct result of COVID-19, with 39% (382
respondents) neither agreeing or disagreeing, demonstrating that most women
did not think this was a gendered issue.
Women were asked if there are other ways women were disproportionately
impacted by COVID-19. The top 5 themes were:







3.6.3

Employment – mentioned by 60 respondents, was particularly about job security
and stability and was hindered by other responsibilities such as childcare and
home schooling.
Childcare or home schooling – mentioned by 58 respondents, women spoke
about bearing the brunt of these responsibilities, or doing all of it, whilst often
working from home at the same time.
Carrying the emotional burden and juggling a variety of roles – mentioned by 58
respondents, this was about ‘holding it all together’ and looking out for the
practical and emotional needs of others.
Household chores – mentioned by 41 respondents, these tasks had increased
due to more people being at home and for longer periods of time.
Other caring responsibilities – mentioned by 39 respondents, this included
current caring roles that had become more complex and time consuming, or new
caring roles due to the virus, again fitting alongside other responsibilities.
Women were asked to agree or disagree with statements to reflect their own
experiences:









19% agreed that they have experienced difficulty accessing women’s health
services during lockdown.
27% agreed that COVID-19 had negatively affected their financial situation.
25% were concerned about their children going back to school or nursery too
soon.
56% agreed that they had experienced mental health issues more than normal
directly due to the pandemic.
29% agreed that they were concerned about going back to work sooner than
they felt comfortable with.
18 % experienced difficulties due to inadequate technology, however it was
important to note that this was an online survey, so likely that respondents had a
reasonable level of access to the internet, and a device.
31% of respondents agreed that they had been affected by shielding for
themselves of others.
Page 43



56% who expressed that they had experienced mental health issues more than
normal as a direct result of COVID-19, clearly demonstrating that is the most
significant issue that women are experiencing.

3.6.4 Women were asked what their main concerns were. The top five are:


Childcare, home schooling and other household chores – mentioned by 93
respondents.
Health – mentioned by 89 respondents
Lockdown being lifted too soon – mentioned by 68 respondents
Mental health – mentioned by 64 respondents
Safety – mentioned by 60 respondents






3.6.5 Women were asked about future concerns, their top five were:






Work, unemployment and jobs – mentioned by 109 respondents
Returning to normal – mentioned by 87 respondents
A second spike – mentioned by 79 respondents
Education – mentioned by 70 respondents
A recession and the economy – mentioned by 68 respondents

3.6.6 Women were asked if they could access services:





64% being able to access it within their locality
7% commenting that this was through work specifically
16% hadn’t tried or needed to access information or services
8% had not been able to access any at all

3.6.7 Since June, Women’s Lives Leeds have continued listening to women to
understand their experiences of COVID-19. They report that:





Women have raised concerns about increasing levels of domestic abuse.
Women would like to be consulted more about cancer screening, especially
women from culturally diverse backgrounds.
There have been issues accessing some services which have stopped.
Some women and girls are experiencing mental health problems and feel there
is a lack of support unless they become serious, there is a gap between peer
support and specialist services and many women report “flipping” from coping
to not coping.

3.6.8 Some of these issues will be picked up by work underway to secure United Nations
Women Friendly City status for Leeds.
4

Corporate considerations

4.5

Consultation and engagement

4.5.1 The Women Friendly Leeds COVID-19 survey ran between 1st and 14th June. 979
responses to the survey were received.
4.5.2 Women’s Lives Leeds and Leeds Women’s and Girl’s Hubs are developing the
VOICES project – Views, Opinions and Insights Consultation and Engagement
Page 44

Systems to develop and strengthen the new Hubs to seek views on what needs to
be done to improve women’s and girls’ lives in Leeds.
4.5.3 There has been significant engagement with women and families about maternity
services over the last few years, including an extensive consultation to support the
proposals to centralise maternity services. There has been a review of this
engagement work jointly conducted by the Maternity Voices Partnership and the
CCG, in order to identify any gaps. It was concluded that there have been no
seldom heard groups who have not been represented, but particular groups who we
have not had so much engagement with have been identified for prioritising in future
engagement (including LGBT+ families and women with physical disabilities).
4.5.4 Launch of the State of Women’s Health report on International Women’s Day, 8th
March 2019.
4.5.5 Workshop on the State of Women's Health, 28th November 2019.
4.6

Equality and diversity / cohesion and integration

4.6.1 Equality issues are implicit in the priorities presented in this report. The purpose of
the strategic and operational activity in this report is to ensure that the needs of
people at risk of poor outcomes are identified and responded to both as individuals
and at a community level.
4.7

Council policies and the Best Council Plan

4.7.1 This report provides an update on progress in delivering the council and city
priorities in line with the council’s performance management framework and the
Best Council Plan. It also contributes to the Joint Health and Well Being Strategy.
4.7.2 There are no specific climate change implications from this report. However in
broad terms the promotion of good health, healthy living and active travel is
supportive in helping to limit the impact on the climate emergency.
4.8

Resources, procurement and value for money

4.8.1 There are no specific resource implications from this report.
4.9

Legal implications, access to information, and call-in

4.9.1 The Scrutiny Board may wish to consider any specific resource, procurement or
value for money matters associated with this matter.
4.10 Risk management
4.10.1 Some of the details in this report relate to external organisations, which may be
subject to other considerations relating to risk management. Specific matters may
need to be taken into account if any additional scrutiny activity is deemed
appropriate.

Page 45

5

Conclusions

5.1

The COVID-19 pandemic has negatively impacted on women’s health.

5.2

Whilst Primary Care continued to see patients, routine invites from central
screening services for breast and cervical screening were paused during the first
wave. Uptake rates have reduced, are lower than the national target and lower in
deprived Leeds.

5.3

Maternity Services have continued to support women but are unable to facilitate
women having partners present in some parts of the pathway due to constraints
around social distancing and the current estate. Maternity Services continue to
work flexibly to support women to access high quality services, and will develop this
further through the new Leeds Maternity Strategy.

5.4

Services continue to work together to support women’s perinatal mental health, and
are seeing an increasing number and severity of mental health issues.

5.5

Reproductive health has been negatively impacted. The pandemic has impacted
women’s ability to access contraception within their local community services.

5.6

There has also been a significant reduction in the number of C-Card sites that are
able to support young people with sexual health information, advice and condoms.
Nationally there is an increase in women seeking information and advice on
abortions and emergency contraception via national helplines.

5.7

Women’s Lives Leeds consultation found that that women reported
disproportionately negative impacts of COVID-19 including: an increase in domestic
violence, childcare and home schooling, caring responsibilities: working in frontline
jobs and therefore increased exposure to COVID-19, worries around job insecurity,
household chores, the emotional burden of keeping things together and mental
health issues. Work for Leeds to become a Women Friendly City will help to
redress this inequality.

6

Recommendations

6.1

The Scrutiny Board is asked to:
a)
b)
c)

d)

Note the content of the report.
Support plans to improve cancer screening, maternity services and
reproductive health.
Support work to ensure Leeds is a United Nations Women Friendly City with
the aim of addressing inequalities and the specific impact of the pandemic on
women’s physical and mental health and wellbeing.
Encourage services to engage with girls and women’s hubs.

Page 46

7

Background documents1







The State of Women’s Health 2019: https://observatory.leeds.gov.uk/health-andwellbeing/needs-assessments/
Woman Friendly Leeds: https://womenfriendlyleeds.org/about/
Leeds Maternity Strategy:
https://www.leedsccg.nhs.uk/content/uploads/2015/06/Maternity-strategy-forLeeds-2015-2020.pdf
Leeds Maternity Health Needs Assessment:
https://observatory.leeds.gov.uk/wp-content/uploads/2020/08/Leeds-MaternityHealth-Needs-Assessment-April-2020-FINAL.pdf
Implementing Phase Three of the NHS response to COVID-19:
https://www.england.nhs.uk/publication/implementing-phase-3-of-the-nhsresponse-to-the-covid-19-pandemic/
Women’s Lives Leeds COVID-19 survey June 2020:
https://www.womenslivesleeds.org.uk/women-friendly-leeds/women-friendlyleeds-covid-19-survey/

The background documents listed in this section are available to download from the council’s website, unless they
contain confidential or exempt information. The list of background documents does not include published works.
1

Page 47

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 10
Report author: Angela Brogden
Tel: 0113 37 88661

Report of Head of Democratic Services
Report to Scrutiny Board (Adults, Health and Active Lifestyles)
Date: 16th March 2021
Subject: Work Schedule
Yes

No

Has consultation been carried out?

Yes

No

Are there implications for equality and diversity and cohesion and
integration?

Yes

No

Will the decision be open for call-in?

Yes

No

Does the report contain confidential or exempt information?

Yes

No

Are specific electoral wards affected?
If yes, name(s) of ward(s):

If relevant, access to information procedure rule number:
Appendix number:

1.

Purpose of this report

1.1 The purpose of this report is to consider the Scrutiny Board’s work schedule for the
remainder of the current municipal year.
2.

Background information

2.1 All Scrutiny Boards are required to determine and manage their own work schedule
for the municipal year. In doing so, the work schedule should not be considered a
fixed and rigid schedule, it should be recognised as a document that can be adapted
and changed to reflect any new and emerging issues throughout the year; and also
reflect any timetable issues that might occur from time to time.
3.

Main issues

3.1 The latest iteration of the Board’s work schedule for the remainder of the municipal
year is attached as Appendix 1 for consideration and agreement of the Scrutiny
Board – subject to any identified and agreed amendments.
3.2 Executive Board minutes from the meeting held on 10th February 2021 are also
attached as Appendix 2. The Scrutiny Board is asked to consider and note the
Executive Board minutes, insofar as they relate to the remit of the Scrutiny Board;
and identify any matter where specific scrutiny activity may be warranted, and
therefore subsequently incorporated into the work schedule.

Page 49

Developing the work schedule
3.3

When considering any developments and/or modifications to the work schedule,
effort should be undertaken to:






3.4

Avoid unnecessary duplication by having a full appreciation of any existing
forums already having oversight of, or monitoring a particular issue.
Ensure any Scrutiny undertaken has clarity and focus of purpose and will add
value and can be delivered within an agreed time frame.
Avoid pure “information items” except where that information is being received as
part of a policy/scrutiny review.
Seek advice about available resources and relevant timings, taking into
consideration the workload across the Scrutiny Boards and the type of Scrutiny
taking place.
Build in sufficient flexibility to enable the consideration of urgent matters that may
arise during the year.

In addition, in order to deliver the work schedule, the Board may need to take a
flexible approach and undertake activities outside the formal schedule of meetings –
such as working groups and site visits, where necessary and appropriate. This
flexible approach may also require additional formal meetings of the Scrutiny Board.
Developments since the previous Scrutiny Board meeting

3.5

There are no significant developments to report since the last meeting.
Developing the work programme for the new municipal

3.6 Scrutiny Boards are subject to an annual review and appointment process as part of
the overall governance arrangements presented and agreed by Council at its annual
meeting each year.
3.7

As such, Scrutiny Boards have tended to adopt different approaches to planning for
the new municipal year and providing a ‘handover’ of issues to be considered by the
appropriate and newly constituted Scrutiny Board.

3.8

Historically, at the first meeting of the municipal year, Scrutiny Boards have been
presented with an outline of proposed formal meeting dates, alongside a draft work
schedule that reflected traditional and known items of scrutiny activity, such as
performance and budget monitoring, identified Budget and Policy Framework items
and recommendation tracking.

3.9

Specific scrutiny inquiries have tended to be identified at the initial meetings in June /
July each year; however some Scrutiny Board members have previously raised
concern around this approach and the impact this can have on progressing and
completing identified inquires in a timely manner.

3.10 In order to bring these matters together and to adopt a longer-term approach to
planning Scrutiny Board work programmes; each Scrutiny Board is being presented
with:
(a) A draft schedule of planned meeting dates for the municipal year (2021/22)

Page 50

(b) A draft work schedule that includes known items of scrutiny activity, such as
performance and budget monitoring, identified Budget and Policy Framework
items and recommendation tracking.
(c) Details of specific areas / matters to be recommended for consideration by the
appropriate Scrutiny Board, as part of the overall 2021/22 work programme.
3.11 The draft work schedule is presented at Appendix 3 for consideration. This also
outlines planned meeting dates and for consistency, it is proposed to maintain the
current meeting arrangements for the new municipal year, i.e. meeting on Tuesdays
at 1.30 pm (pre-meeting at 1.00 pm).
3.12 In considering the details presented at Appendix 3, Members of the Scrutiny Board
are reminded to consider the information outlined in paragraph 3.3.
3.13 In agreeing to recommend any specific matters for consideration by the successor
Scrutiny Board, members should recognise the future work schedule will:
 Become the responsibility of a successor Scrutiny Board (subject to the
arrangements agreed by Council in May 2021).
 Remain flexible and adaptable to reflect any new and emerging issues or changing
priorities identified in the new municipal year.
 Need to reflect any timetabling issues that might occur from time to time.
3.14 Nonetheless, setting out proposed meeting dates and a draft work schedule for the
new municipal year will provide a foundation that will not only help with the initial
planning for next year’s Scrutiny Board, it also has the potential to help with planning
the work programme in the longer-term.
4.

Consultation and engagement

4.1.1 The Vision for Scrutiny states that Scrutiny Boards should seek the advice of the
Scrutiny officer, the relevant Director(s) and Executive Member(s) about available
resources prior to agreeing items of work.
4.2

Equality and diversity / cohesion and integration

4.2.1 The Scrutiny Board Procedure Rules state that, where appropriate, all terms of
reference for work undertaken by Scrutiny Boards will include ‘ to review how and to
what effect consideration has been given to the impact of a service or policy on all
equality areas, as set out in the Council’s Equality and Diversity Scheme’.
4.3

Council policies and the Best Council Plan

4.3.1 The terms of reference of the Scrutiny Boards promote a strategic and outward
looking Scrutiny function that focuses on the best council objectives.
Climate Emergency
4.3.2 When considering areas of work, the Board is reminded that influencing climate
change and sustainability should be a key area of focus.

Page 51

4.4

Resources, procurement and value for money

4.4.1 Experience has shown that the Scrutiny process is more effective and adds greater
value if the Board seeks to minimise the number of substantial inquiries running at
one time and focus its resources on one key issue at a time.
4.4.2 The Vision for Scrutiny, agreed by full Council also recognises that like all other
Council functions, resources to support the Scrutiny function are under considerable
pressure and that requests from Scrutiny Boards cannot always be met.
Consequently, when establishing their work programmes Scrutiny Boards should:
 Seek the advice of the Scrutiny officer, the relevant Director and Executive
Member about available resources;
 Avoid duplication by having a full appreciation of any existing forums already
having oversight of, or monitoring a particular issue;
 Ensure any Scrutiny undertaken has clarity and focus of purpose and will add
value and can be delivered within an agreed time frame.
4.5

Legal implications, access to information, and call-in

4.5.1 This report has no specific legal implications.
4.6

Risk management

4.6.1 This report has no specific risk management implications.
5.

Conclusions

5.1

All Scrutiny Boards are required to determine and manage their own work schedule
for the municipal year. The latest iteration of the Board’s work schedule is attached
as Appendix 1 for consideration and agreement of the Scrutiny Board – subject to
any identified and agreed amendments.

5.2

Also attached as Appendix 3 is a draft work schedule for the next municipal year
(2021/22) for Members to consider and to also identify any other specific areas/
matters to be recommended to the successor Scrutiny Board.

6.

Recommendations

6.1

Members are asked to
(a) consider the matters outlined in this report and agree (or amend) the overall
work schedule (as presented at Appendix 1) as the basis for the Board’s work
for the remainder of 2020/21.
(b) consider the draft work schedule as presented at Appendix 3 and make
recommendations as deemed necessary.

Page 52

7.

Background documents1

7.1

None.

The background documents listed in this section are available to download from the council’s website, unless they
contain confidential or exempt information. The list of background documents does not include published works.
1

Page 53

This page is intentionally left blank

APPENDIX 1

SCRUTINY BOARD (ADULTS, HEALTH AND ACTIVE LIFESTYLES)

Work Schedule for 2020/2021 Municipal Year
June 2020

July 2020

August 2020

Meeting Agenda for 23/06/20 at 2.00 pm.

Meeting Agenda for 14/07/20 at 2.00 pm.

No Scrutiny Board meeting scheduled

*REMOTE SESSION*

*REMOTE SESSION*







Update on Coronavirus (COVID19)
pandemic – Response and Recovery Plan,
including a briefing on the latest position
with regard to those service areas that fall
within the remit of the Scrutiny Board.
Coronavirus (COVID19) pandemic – health
inequalities.



Update on Coronavirus (COVID19) pandemic
– Response and Recovery Plan, including a
briefing on the latest position with regard to
those service areas that fall within the remit
of the Scrutiny Board.
Coronavirus (COVID19) pandemic – lessons
learned.

Page 55

Working Group Meetings

Site Visits / Other

Scrutiny Work Items Key:
PSR
Policy/Service Review
PDS
Pre-decision Scrutiny

RT
PM

Recommendation Tracking
Performance Monitoring

DB
C

Development Briefings
Consultation Response

APPENDIX 1

SCRUTINY BOARD (ADULTS, HEALTH AND ACTIVE LIFESTYLES)

Work Schedule for 2020/2021 Municipal Year

September 2020

October 2020

November 2020

Meeting Agenda for 15/09/20 at 1.30 pm.

Meeting Agenda for 20/10/20 at 1.30 pm.

Meeting Agenda for 24/11/20 at 1.30 pm.

Impact of Covid-19 on access to dental
services in Leeds (PSR)
Leeds Health and Care Winter Planning
2020/21 and Business Continuity Planning
in Adults and Health (PDS)

Budget Saving Proposals (PDS)
Themed Discussion: Local Mental Health Issues
(PSR) - Reflecting on how Covid-19 has
specifically impacted local mental health services
and to receive an update on the following:

Page 56






The Leeds Mental Health Strategy
Leeds Mental Wellbeing Service
Mental Health Services for Adults and Older
People in Wetherby
Leeds Mental Health Community Support
Services

Leeds Safeguarding Adults Board
Progress Report (PM)
Active Leeds Update (PSR)
Aireborough Leisure Centre Renovation
– scrutiny working group summary
(PSR)

Working Group Meetings

Budget Saving Proposals (PDS)
5/10/20 @ 10 am
Site Visits / Other

Scrutiny Work Items Key:
PSR
Policy/Service Review
PDS
Pre-decision Scrutiny

RT
PM

Recommendation Tracking
Performance Monitoring

DB
C

Development Briefings
Consultation Response

Aireborough Leisure Centre Renovation
(PSR) – 3/11/20 @ 1 pm
Budget Saving Proposals (PDS)
20/10/20 @ 12 pm

APPENDIX 1

SCRUTINY BOARD (ADULTS, HEALTH AND ACTIVE LIFESTYLES)

Work Schedule for 2020/2021 Municipal Year

December 2020

January 2021

February 2021

No Scrutiny Board meeting scheduled

Meeting Agenda for 05/01/021 at 1.30 pm.

Meeting Agenda for 09/02/21 at 1.30 pm.

Performance Report (Adults, Health and Active
Lifestyles) (PM)
The Adult Social Care Annual compliments and
complaints report (PM)

Update on winter pressures across the
Leeds Health and Care System, including
Covid-19 (PSR)
Leeds Covid-19 Vaccination Programme
Update (PSR)

Financial Health Monitoring (PSR)
Page 57

2021/22 Initial Budget Proposals (PDS)

Working Group Meetings

Site Visits / Other

Scrutiny Work Items Key:
PSR
Policy/Service Review
PDS
Pre-decision Scrutiny

RT
PM

Recommendation Tracking
Performance Monitoring

DB
C

Development Briefings
Consultation Response

APPENDIX 1

SCRUTINY BOARD (ADULTS, HEALTH AND ACTIVE LIFESTYLES)

Work Schedule for 2020/2021 Municipal Year

March 2021

April 2021

May 2021

Meeting Agenda for 16/03/21 at 1.30 pm.

No Scrutiny Board meeting scheduled

Hearing and Balance Centre (PRS)
Leeds Fertility IVF service (PRS)

Page 58

Themed Discussion: Women’s Health
(PSR) - To consider issues surrounding
Women’s Health in general as well as a
focus on how COVID-19 has impacted
women’s health in particular.

Working Group Meetings

Scrutiny Work Items Key:
PSR
Policy/Service Review
PDS
Pre-decision Scrutiny

RT
PM

Recommendation Tracking
Performance Monitoring

DB
C

Development Briefings
Consultation Response

No Scrutiny Board meeting scheduled

EXECUTIVE BOARD
WEDNESDAY, 10TH FEBRUARY, 2021
PRESENT:

Councillor J Blake in the Chair
Councillors A Carter, D Coupar, S Golton,
J Lewis, L Mulherin, J Pryor, M Rafique and
F Venner

110

Chair's Opening Remarks
At the commencement of the meeting, Councillor Blake as Chair welcomed all
to the meeting and highlighted that this would be her final Executive Board
meeting, following her recent announcement that she was to step down as
Leader of the Council, in order to take up a new role as a Labour Party Peer
in the House of Lords.
In response to this, throughout the meeting Board Members paid tribute to
Councillor Blake and extended their thanks to her for her years of service in
the number of roles in which she had served on the Council.
Also, on behalf of the Board, Councillor Blake paid tribute to both Councillor
Mulherin and Councillor Charlwood for all of their efforts and achievements
throughout their time as Executive Members of Leeds City Council following
their respective recent announcements to step down from their positions on
Executive Board.

111

Exempt Information - Possible Exclusion of the Press and Public
RESOLVED – That, in accordance with Regulation 4 of The Local Authorities
(Executive Arrangements) (Meetings and Access to Information) (England)
Regulations 2012, the public be excluded from the meeting during
consideration of the following parts of the agenda designated as exempt from
publication on the grounds that it is likely, in view of the nature of the business
to be transacted or the nature of the proceedings, that if members of the
public were present there would be disclosure to them of exempt information
so designated as follows:(A)

That appendix 2 to the report entitled, ‘Acquisition of Premises at
Kingsdale Court, Seacroft’, referred to in Minute No. 115 be designated
as being exempt from publication in accordance with paragraph 10.4(3)
of Schedule 12A(3) of the Local Government Act 1972 and considered
in private on the grounds that the information contained within that
appendix relates to the financial or business affairs of a particular
person, and of the Council. This information is not publicly available
from the statutory registers of information kept in respect of certain
companies and charities. It is considered that since this information
was obtained through one to one negotiations for the disposal of the
property / land then it is not in the public interest to disclose this
information at this point in time. Also, it is considered that the release of
Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting
to be held on Wednesday, 17th March, 2021

Page 59

such information would, or would be likely to prejudice the Council’s
commercial interests in relation to other similar transactions in that
prospective purchasers of other similar properties would have access
to information about the nature and level of consideration which may
prove acceptable to the Council. It is considered that whilst there may
be a public interest in disclosure, much of this information will be
publicly available from the Land Registry following completion of this
transaction and consequently the public interest in maintaining the
exemption outweighs the public interest in disclosing this information at
this point in time;
(B)

That appendix B to the report entitled, ‘Accelerated Capital Receipts
and Estate Rationalisation’, referred to in Minute No. 119 be
designated as being exempt from publication in accordance with
paragraph 10.4(3) of Schedule 12A(3) of the Local Government Act
1972 and considered in private on the grounds that the information
contained within that appendix relates to the financial and business
affairs of the Council. It is considered that the release of such
information would, or would be likely to prejudice the Council’s
commercial interests in relation to property transactions. It is
considered that the public interest in maintaining the exemption from
publication outweighs the public interest in disclosing this information at
this point in time;

(C)

That appendix 2 to the report entitled, ‘East Leeds Extension – Land
Disposal and Delivery of Community Infrastructure’, referred to in
Minute No. 124 be designated as being exempt from publication in
accordance with paragraph 10.4(3) of Schedule 12A(3) of the Local
Government Act 1972 and considered in private on the grounds that
the information contained within that appendix contains information
relating to the financial or business affairs of a particular person
(including the Council). It is considered that the public interest in
maintaining the content of appendix 2 as exempt from publication
outweighs the public interest in disclosing the information, as doing so
would prejudice the Council’s commercial position and that of third
parties in the negotiation of a land transaction, should they be
disclosed at this stage;

(D)

That appendix 3 to the report entitled, ‘Corn Exchange Public Realm
Design and Cost Report’, referred to in Minute No. 125 be designated
as being exempt from publication in accordance with paragraph 10.4(3)
of Schedule 12A(3) of the Local Government Act 1972 and considered
in private on the grounds that the information contained within the
appendix relates to the financial and business affairs of the Council and
other parties. It is considered that the release of such information
would, or would be likely to prejudice the Council’s commercial
interests in relation to other similar transactions. It is considered that
the public interest in maintaining the exemption outweighs the public
interest in disclosing this information at this point in time.
Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting
to be held on Wednesday, 17th March, 2021

Page 60

112

Late Items
Agenda Item 8 - Update on Coronavirus (Covid-19) Pandemic – Response
and Recovery Plan
With the agreement of the Chair, a late item of business was admitted to the
agenda entitled, ‘Update on Coronavirus (COVID-19) Pandemic – Response
and Recovery Plan’.
Given the scale and significance of this issue, it was deemed appropriate that
a further update report be submitted to this remote meeting of the Board.
However, due to the fast paced nature of developments on this issue, and in
order to ensure that Board Members received the most up to date information
as possible, the report was not included within the agenda as originally
published on 2nd February 2021. (Minute No. 117 refers).

113

Declaration of Disclosable Pecuniary Interests
There were no Disclosable Pecuniary Interests declared at the meeting,
however during the course of the meeting, Councillor Golton drew the Board’s
attention to the fact that he was a candidate in the forthcoming West
Yorkshire Mayoral Elections. (Minute No. 116 refers).
Also, Councillor Mulherin drew the Board’s attention to her recent appoint as
Chief Executive for the Market Place organisation. (Minute No. 117 refers).

114

Minutes
RESOLVED – That the minutes of the previous meeting held on 16th
December 2020 be approved as a correct record.
COMMUNITIES

115

Acquisition of premises at Kingsdale Court, Seacroft
The Director of City Development and the Director of Resources and Housing
submitted a joint report which outlined a proposal to purchase a portfolio of at
least 40 flats at Kingsdale Court, Seacroft, as part of a co-ordinated response
by the Council and other partner services to resolving acute neighbourhood
management issues and extremely poor housing conditions.
Members were supportive of the recommendations presented in the submitted
report, however, in response to Members’ comments the Board received
further detail regarding the actions being taken to mitigate against risk
associated with the proposals, with it being noted that appropriate due
diligence processes were in place.
In discussing the current position in relation to the properties at Sugar Hill
Close and Wordsworth Drive, and in response to a Member’s enquiries, the
Board was provided with information which explained the reasons for the
proposed actions to address the specific issues at Kingsdale Court and how
that position differed to that of Sugar Hill Close and Wordsworth Drive, with it
Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting
to be held on Wednesday, 17th March, 2021

Page 61

being noted that liaison with the residents of Sugar Hill Close and Wordsworth
Drive would continue as part of the support provided to them by the Council.
Following consideration of Appendix 2 to the submitted report designated as
being exempt from publication under the provisions of Access to Information
Procedure Rule 10.4(3), which was considered in private at the conclusion of
the public part of the meeting, it was
RESOLVED –
(a)
That the use of Housing Revenue Account capital funding in line with
the detail, as set out in exempt Appendix 2 to the submitted report, be
approved, in order to enable the acquisition of a portfolio of at least 40
flats at Kingsdale Court, Seacroft, and that having agreed resolution (b)
(below), the final negotiations of the terms be delegated to the Director
of City Development in consultation with the Director of Resources and
Housing and the Executive Member for ‘Communities’;
(b)

That the terms of acquisition, as contained within exempt Appendix 2 to
the submitted report, be approved;

(c)

That in principle support be agreed for Directors to pursue further
acquisitions to enable full assembly of the Kingsdale Court site and its
redevelopment, with the relevant delegations available to Directors for
this, being noted;

(d)

That it be noted that the Council has the potential to use its
Compulsory Purchase powers to support any assembly of the site
should they be required, with it also being noted that any such proposal
would be the subject of a further report;

(e)

That approval be given for the resolutions within this minute to be
exempted from the Call In process, for those reasons as detailed within
paragraph 4.5.5 – 4.5.6 of the submitted report.

(The Council’s Executive and Decision Making Procedure Rules state that a
decision may be declared as being exempt from the Call In process by the
decision taker if it is considered that the matter is urgent and any delay would
seriously prejudice the Council’s, or the public’s interests. In line with this, the
resolutions contained within this minute were exempted from the Call In
process, as per resolution (e) above, and for the reasons as detailed within
section 4.5.5 – 4.5.6 of the submitted report)
INCLUSIVE GROWTH AND CULTURE
116

2021/22 Revenue Budget and Council Tax Report, Including Reports on
the Capital Programme and Treasury Management Strategy
Further to Minute No. 96, 16th December 2020, the Chief Officer, Financial
Services, submitted a suite of reports regarding: proposals for the City
Council’s Revenue Budget for 2021/22 and the Leeds element of the Council
Tax to be levied during the same period; proposals regarding an updated
Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting
to be held on Wednesday, 17th March, 2021

Page 62

Capital Programme for 2021-2025 and also a proposed updated Treasury
Management Strategy for 2021/22.
By way of introduction to the report, the Chair paid tribute to all those officers
who had developed the current draft budget to its current position, under what
were unprecedented circumstances.
(A)

2021/22 Revenue Budget and Council Tax

As part of the introduction to the report, the Chief Officer (Financial Services)
brought to Members’ attention the following corrections to be made to the
covering report:
 That the sum in paragraph 2.2.1, bullet point 4 should read £3.775
billion, not million;
 That the reference to 2020/21 in the first recommendation be replaced
with 2021/22; and
 That the reference in the second recommendation to the proposed
Adult Social Care precept of 2.99% be replaced with 3%.
Responding to a Member’s enquiries, the Board was provided with further
information regarding the total funding which had been provided by
Government specifically for the Coronavirus pandemic which was contributing
towards this proposed Council budget. Also, responding to a specific
question on how the funding from Government for Track and Trace provision
had been spent, officers undertook to provide the Member in question with
further detail.
In response to a Member’s enquiry, the Board was updated on the current
position regarding the Chair of the Scrutiny Board (Environment, Housing and
Communities) being provided with further detail in relation to the future
provision of grass cutting; PCSOs; Community Committee Wellbeing funding
and the opening hours of Community Hubs following the recent consideration
of such matters by the Scrutiny Board.
Also, responding to a Member’s enquiry, the Board received further detail on
the liaison which took place between the Council and the West Yorkshire
Police and Crime Commissioners office in terms of budgetary matters.
Following a Member’s question on how much the Council was expected to
pay in interest upon outstanding debt in 2021/22, officers undertook to provide
the Member in question with the requested information outside of the meeting.
RESOLVED –
(a)
That Council be recommended to note the recommendation of the
Council’s statutory officer (the Chief Officer – Financial Services) that
the Budget proposals for 2021/22 are robust and that the proposed
level of reserves is adequate, as set out at Section 12 of the submitted
report;

Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting
to be held on Wednesday, 17th March, 2021

Page 63

(b)

That subject to making those specific corrections as detailed above,
Executive Board recommends to Council the adoption of the following:(i)

(ii)
(iii)
(iv)

That the revenue budget for 2021/22 totalling £435.3m be
approved. This means that the Leeds element of the Council
Tax for 2021/22 will increase by 1.99% plus the Adult Social
Care precept of 3%. This excludes the police and fire precepts
which will be incorporated into the report to be submitted to
Council on the 24th February 2021;
That approval be given to grants totalling £69.0k to be allocated
to parishes;
That approval be given to the strategy at Appendix 9 of the
submitted report in respect of the flexible use of capital receipts;
That in respect of the Housing Revenue Account, Council be
recommended to approve the budget with the following: An increase of 1.5% (CPI+1%) in dwelling rents;
 A 30p/wk change in the standing charge for Leeds PIPES
(Providing Innovative Pro-Environmental Solutions) as a
step towards full cost recovery;
 A 1.1% RPI increase in charges for all other District Heating
schemes;
 The service charges for low/medium and multi-storey flats
being increased by RPI of 1.1%;
 The charge for tenants who benefit from the sheltered
support service being increased to £15.14 per week to
reflect full cost recovery. The charge being eligible for
Housing Benefit;
 The subsidy for tenants who are not eligible for benefits but
receive the sheltered support service being set at £3.14 per
week; Therefore the amount payable by these tenants will
increase from £10 per week to £12 per week;
 That subject to consultation, a Retirement Life charge be
introduced for the provision of additional services linked to
communal areas and for communal facilities where they are
within a standalone community centre;
 That whilst a full charge covering communal areas equates
to £7.83, it be proposed that for self-payers this charge is
initially subsidised and introduced over 3 years. Therefore
the subsidy for tenants who are not eligible for benefits but
receive the service be set at £3.01 per week meaning the
amount payable by these tenants will increase from £3.30
per week to £4.82 per week;
 That whilst a full charge for stand-alone community centres
equates to £3.34, it be proposed that for self-payers this
charge is initially subsidised and introduced over 3 years.
Therefore the subsidy for tenants who are not eligible for
benefits but receive the service be set at £2.04 per week
Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting
to be held on Wednesday, 17th March, 2021

Page 64



meaning the amount payable by these tenants will be £1.30
per week;
Any overall increase to tenants in respect of rents, service
and sheltered support who are ‘self-payers’ being no more
than £3.25 per week.

(v) That in respect of the Schools Budget, approval be given to the
High Needs Block budget for 2021/22, as set out in paragraph
3.4.7 of the Schools Budget Report as detailed at Appendix 8 to the
submitted report.
(c)

That the Executive Board’s thanks be conveyed to Scrutiny Boards for
the comments and observations made as part of Scrutiny’s
consideration of the Council’s proposed Budget;

(d)

That agreement be given to the recommendations in the two ‘Service
Review’ proposals, as detailed at Appendix 3 to the submitted report,
and that consultation commences, with it being noted that decisions to
give effect to such proposals shall be taken by the relevant Director or
Chief Officer, following the consultation period, in accordance with the
Officer delegation scheme (Executive functions) save where the
Leader, relevant portfolio holder or Director considers that the matter
should be referred to Executive Board for consideration.

(B)

Capital Programme Update 2021 – 2025

RESOLVED –
(a)
That Executive Board recommends to Council:(i) the approval of the Capital Programme for 2021-2025, totalling
£1,842.2m, including the revised projected position for 2020/21, as
presented in Appendix A to the submitted report;
(ii) the approval of the MRP policy statement for 2021/22, as set out in
Appendix C to the submitted report; and
(iii) the approval of the Capital and Investment Strategy, as set out in
Appendix D to the submitted report.
(b)

That Executive Board approval be given to the following net injections
totalling £91.0m into the Capital Programme, as set out in Appendix A
(iii) to the submitted report:
 £43.0m of annual programme injections and £15.2m of major
programme injections as listed at Appendix A(iv) of the submitted
report;
 £4.7m of Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) Strategic Fund
monies; and
 £121.2m of other injections, primarily relating to the roll forward of
the HRA Programme, annual capital grant allocations,
Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting
to be held on Wednesday, 17th March, 2021

Page 65



departmental borrowing injections and other secured external
funding;
£93.1m of budget reductions as listed at Appendix A(v) of the
submitted report.

(c) That it be noted that the above resolutions to inject net funding of
£91.0m will be implemented by the Chief Officer (Financial
Services).
(C)

Treasury Management Strategy 2021/2022

Responding to a Member’s enquiry, the Board was provided with further
information on how CIPFA’s prudential code had been taken into
consideration in respect of the Council’s Capital and Investment Strategy, with
assurance being provided that the code did not present any specific concerns
for the Authority.
Regarding the ongoing actions in respect of Barclays Bank, responding to a
Member’s enquiry, officers undertook to provide the Member in question with
a separate briefing on this issue.
RESOLVED –
(a)
That the Treasury Strategy for 2021/22, as set out in Section 3.3 of the
submitted report be approved by Executive Board, and that the review
of the 2020/21 strategy and operations, as set out in Sections 3.1 and
3.2, be noted;
(b)

That full Council be recommended to set the borrowing limits for
2020/21, 2021/22, 2022/23 and 2023/24, as detailed in Section 3.4 of
the submitted report and to note the changes to both the Operational
Boundary and the Authorised limits;

(c)

That full Council be recommended to set the Treasury Management
indicators for 2020/21, 2021/22, 2022/23 and 2023/24, as detailed in
Section 3.5 of the submitted report;

(d)

That full Council be recommended to set the investment limits for
2020/21, 2021/22, 2022/23 and 2023/24 as detailed in Section 3.6 of
the submitted report.

(The matters referred to in Minute Nos. 116 (A)(a) – 116(A)(c) (Revenue
Budget and Council Tax); 116(B)(a)(i) – 116(B)(a)(iii) (Capital Programme)
and 116(C)(b) – 116(C)(d) (Treasury Management Strategy), given that they
were decisions being made in accordance with the Budget and Policy
Framework Procedure Rules, were not eligible for Call In)
(Under the provisions of Council Procedure Rule 16.5, Councillor A Carter
required it to be recorded that he abstained from voting on all of the decisions
referred to within this minute, whilst Councillor Golton required it to be
Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting
to be held on Wednesday, 17th March, 2021

Page 66

recorded that he abstained from voting on the decisions referred to within
Minute No. 116(A) and 116(B))
(As part of the discussion on this report, although not a declaration of a
Disclosable Pecuniary Interest, Councillor Golton drew the Board’s attention
to the fact that he was a candidate in the forthcoming West Yorkshire Mayoral
Elections)
117

Update on Coronavirus (COVID19) pandemic – Response and Recovery
Plan
Further to Minute No. 97, 16th December 2021, the Chief Executive submitted
a report which provided an update on the response to the Covid-19 pandemic
across the city including vaccination rollout, the recovery approach, outbreak
management, and current issues and risks. The report focused upon the
impact of entering into national lockdown restrictions, rollout of vaccinations
across the city and the West Yorkshire sub-region, vaccination access,
mitigating risks from the new Covid-19 variants and the support in place for
people and businesses. The report also noted that the city’s multi-agency
command and control arrangements continued to be used with the Response
and Recovery plan, aiming to mitigate the effects of the pandemic on those in
the city, especially the most vulnerable.
With the agreement of the Chair, the submitted report had been circulated to
Board Members as a late item of business prior to the meeting for the reasons
as set out in section 11.9 of the submitted report, and as detailed in Minute
No. 112.
By way of introduction to the report, the Chair thanked Council officers,
partners across all sectors and also the wider community for their continued
efforts in response to the pandemic. An update was provided on a number of
issues, including the roll out of the vaccine in Leeds, the latest infection rates,
the establishment of Elland Road as a public vaccination site and the
expected timeframe regarding further Government announcements regarding
current restrictions. Members of the Board also paid tribute to Captain Sir
Tom Moore, who had recently passed away, for his inspirational actions
throughout the pandemic.
Emphasis was placed upon the work which continued to ensure that the
number of people being vaccinated was maximised, with it being noted that
this would continue to be a priority for the city and that Members would
continue to be updated. With regard to vaccination levels, Members
highlighted how crucial it was to ensure that clear and consistent messaging
about the importance of being vaccinated continued to be conveyed to
communities across the city, especially those where there was hesitancy in
taking the vaccine.
Responding to a Member’s comments, the Board received further information
on the actions which continued to be taken in collaboration with partners
regarding the prioritisation of mental health services and the promotion of
wellbeing, given the impact that the pandemic was having on many.
Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting
to be held on Wednesday, 17th March, 2021

Page 67

In conclusion, the Chair took the opportunity to thank Councillor Venner for
extending her portfolio during the current period, to include both ‘Children and
Families’ and ‘Health, Wellbeing and Adults’.
RESOLVED –
(a)
That the change in restrictions announced on 4th January 2021, with
the introduction of a national lockdown, be noted, and that the public
efforts to stay at home and reduce contacts, be acknowledged; with the
verbal update provided at the meeting on the latest positon also being
noted, together with the fact that the national lockdown is due to be
reviewed in mid-February;
(b)

That the extensive work being undertaken across the city’s multiagency partnership, in line with the integrated winter plan, as reported
to December’s Executive Board, to roll out vaccinations as quickly as
possible, control the spread of the virus, undertake local contact
tracing, prepare for asymptomatic testing, protect the health service,
and deliver support to vulnerable people and businesses, be noted,
and that it be agreed that these priorities continue to be progressed;

(c)

That the concurrent pressures on the system, which include winter
pressures on the health and care system, flooding and extreme
weather particularly through January, continued pressure on local
government finance, capacity concerns and potential impacts from the
uncertainty caused by the UK’s departure from the European Union, be
noted;

(d)

That in respect of the financial implications for the Council arising from
the coronavirus pandemic, the contents of the submitted report be used
as context when the Board considers the more detailed finance based
reports, as presented elsewhere on the Executive Board agenda.

(As part of the discussion on this report, although not a declaration of a
Disclosable Pecuniary Interest, Councillor Mulherin drew the Board’s attention
to her recent appoint as Chief Executive for the Market Place organisation)
118

Update on Leeds City Council's actions following the exit of the United
Kingdom from the European Union
Further to Minute No. 98, 16th December 2020, the Chief Executive submitted
a report which, following the White Paper Motion resolution of Full Council on
13th January 2021, provided the Board with an overview of the Trade and Cooperation Agreement, an initial view of its potential impacts and the approach
of the Council moving forward. It also provided an update on other areas
affected by EU Exit including the repatriation of EU funding and the EU
Settlement Scheme.

Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting
to be held on Wednesday, 17th March, 2021

Page 68

By way of introduction to the submitted report, the Board received an update
on the ongoing work which continued in this area.
Responding to a Member’s comments, the Board received further detail
regarding the communications between the Department for International
Trade, the LEP, the Combined Authority and the Council and the actions
being taken to support the business community moving forward. With regard
to the level of contact which was being made with the Department for
International Trade and its regional representatives on such matters, officers
undertook to provide further detail to the Member in question.
Members also discussed the issue of the repatriation of European funding and
the need for benefit from that funding to be maximised. Members also
discussed how a long term approach towards the Government’s provision of
funding would be helpful in terms of planning for the future. The Board also
considered the process by which such funding would be delivered regionally,
and whether it would be directed to Local Authorities or the Mayoral Authority.
In conclusion, it was agreed that the Leader, on behalf of the Board write to
the Secretary of State for Housing, Communities and Local Government
seeking further clarification on the process by which European funding would
be repatriated.
With regard to the global market, a Member referenced the current situation
with regard to China, with it being noted that such matters were being
monitored, as appropriate.
RESOLVED –
(a)
That the developments which have occurred since the previous
Executive Board report (16th December 2020); the overview of the
Trade and Co-operation Agreement and its potential impacts; together
with the Council’s next steps following its signing to capitalise on any
opportunities moving forward, as detailed within the submitted report,
be noted;
(b)

That, following the resolution of the White Paper Motion by Council on
13th January 2021, agreement be given to the drafting of a letter calling
on the Government to ensure EU funding repatriated to the UK is
devolved to local Councils and Mayoral Combined Authorities as soon
as possible, and following specific agreement as detailed above, the
Leader, on behalf of the Board, write to the Secretary of State for
Housing, Communities and Local Government seeking further
clarification on the process by which European funding would be
repatriated.

RESOURCES
119

Accelerated Capital Receipts and Estate Rationalisation
The Director of City Development submitted a report providing an update on
the Council’s Capital Receipt Programme and which sought support to
continue with the disposal of the properties, as included within the schedule
Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting
to be held on Wednesday, 17th March, 2021

Page 69

attached at Appendix A. The report also sought approval to the acceleration of
properties from future years of the programme and the addition of new
properties being released through estate realisation.
A Member emphasised the key importance of ensuring that Ward Councillors
were kept updated on proposals which affected their Wards, with it being
undertaken that further liaison with local Members could be undertaken to
address any specific issues which remained.
Regarding a Member’s enquiry regarding the preservation of mature trees on
the Redhall site, it was noted that the trees had been included in the master
plan developed for the site, with it also being noted that such matters would
be taken into consideration as part of the planning consent process.
Responding to an enquiry regarding the cost to the Council for the provision of
security measures for those sites which were vacant, officers undertook to
provide the Member in question with that detail.
With regard to a Member’s comment regarding properties of community
interest, it was noted that any expressions of interest made by community
groups would be taken into consideration, as appropriate.
Following consideration of Appendix B to the submitted report designated as
being exempt from publication under the provisions of Access to Information
Procedure Rule 10.4(3), which was considered in private at the conclusion of
the public part of the meeting, it was
RESOLVED –
(a)
That the contents of the submitted report which provides an update on
the Capital Receipts Programme, be noted, together with the schedule
of properties which make up the Council’s Capital Receipts Programme
of surplus properties for disposal over the next 5 years, as detailed in
Appendix A to the submitted report;
(b)

That the previous key decisions which have been taken in relation to
the disposal of assets, as set out at paragraph 3.1 of the submitted
report, be noted;

(c)

That the accelerated disposal of the properties contained within Table
3.1 of the submitted report via auction, be approved;

(d)

That the addition of the properties contained in Table 3.2 of the
submitted report into the Capital Receipts Programme, be approved;

(e)

That the removal of properties from the Capital Receipt Programme, as
set out in paragraph 3.7 of the submitted report, be approved.

(Under the provisions of Council Procedure Rule 16.5, Councillors A Carter
and S Golton both required it to be recorded that they respectively abstained
from voting on the decisions referred to within this minute)
Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting
to be held on Wednesday, 17th March, 2021

Page 70

120

The Leeds Community Infrastructure Levy - Investment of the Strategic
Fund
The Director of Resources and Housing and the Director of City Development
submitted a joint report which sought approval for the investment of the
Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) Strategic Fund in terms of spending
priorities for the forthcoming year and to align the Fund with the Capital
Programme. The report also provided an update on national legislative
changes to the CIL process, in particular those that impact the Strategic Fund.
Responding to a Member’s enquiry, officers undertook to provide the Member
in question with further detail regarding a public transport contribution
concerning NGT in terms of the sum of money involved and where it was
held.
RESOLVED –
(a)
That agreement be given for the spending priority for the investment of
the CIL Strategic Fund (financial year 21/22) to be the Learning Places
Programme, given the continued need in particular for secondary and
SEN places;
(b)

121

That it be noted that the responsible officer for the implementation of
resolution (a) is the Chief Officer (Financial Services), and that,
following resolution (a) (above), the Chief Officer (Financial Services)
will proceed to implement the recommendation under their delegated
powers with the assistance of their delegated officers.

Financial Health Monitoring 2020/21 – Month 9
The Chief Officer (Financial Services) submitted a report which set out the
Council’s projected financial health position for 2020/21, as at Month 9 of the
financial year.
RESOLVED –
(a) That the projected financial position of the Authority, as at Month 9 of
the financial year, be noted, with the projected impact of COVID-19
on that position also being noted;
(b) That for 2020/21, it be noted that the Authority is forecasting a
balanced budget position;
(c) That it be noted that the position detailed within the submitted report
does not reflect the potential effects of any further local or national
lockdown arrangements not yet introduced, which could impact
upon those financial projections.
(Under the provisions of Council Procedure Rule 16.5, Councillors A Carter
required it to be recorded that he abstained from voting on the decisions
referred to within this minute)

Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting
to be held on Wednesday, 17th March, 2021

Page 71

CLIMATE CHANGE, TRANSPORT AND SUSTAINABLE DEVELOPMENT
122

The Door to Door Community Transport Service Project
The Director of City Development and the Director of Adults and Health
submitted a joint report which provided an update on the Door to Door
Community Transport Service (Digital Hub) project, presented a summary of
the work undertaken to date and which sought approval to deliver a pilot of
the proposed service, subject to funding approval from the West Yorkshire
Combined Authority (WYCA) via the Leeds Public Transport Investment
Programme (LPTIP).
In noting that the proposal was a pilot scheme, it was suggested that if
successful, consideration could be given to potentially expanding the project
to other areas of the city.
Responding to a Member’s concerns regarding the proposal, the Board was
provided with further information detailing a breakdown on how the funding for
the pilot would be utilised, together with information on the reasons as to why
the specific geographic and demographic areas for the pilot had been
proposed, with it being undertaken that further detail could be provided to
Members, if required.
RESOLVED –
(a)
That the update on the progress made, and the forward plan for the
Door to Door Community Transport Service project, be noted;
(b)

That the delivery of a pilot of the proposed service, be approved,
subject to funding approval being agreed by the West Yorkshire
Combined Authority (WYCA) via the Leeds Public Transport
Investment Programme (LPTIP).

(Under the provisions of Council Procedure Rule 16.5, Councillors S Golton
required it to be recorded that he abstained from voting on the decisions
referred to within this minute)
123

Review of the Local Centres Programme
Further to Minute No. 44, 24th September 2020, the Director of City
Development submitted a report which set out the review of the Local Centres
Programme and which sought agreement to the proposals for the revised
scope of the programme.
Whilst acknowledging the financial situation being faced by the Council, the
key importance of continuing to invest in local centres was emphasised.
RESOLVED –
(a)
That the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on the deliverability and
progress of the Council’s Local Centres Programme, be noted;
(b)

That the approach taken to assessing a revised scope for the Local
Centres Programme and the criteria-based approach towards retention
Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting
to be held on Wednesday, 17th March, 2021

Page 72

or continuation of schemes, as set out in paragraphs 3.4 – 3.12 of the
submitted report, be agreed;
(c)

That the list of schemes to be taken forward to completion, as set out in
paragraph 3.13 and Appendix 1 to the submitted report, be agreed,
with it being noted that the commensurate figure of £1.862m is to be
retained in the Capital Programme, as set out in the separate report on
the agenda for this meeting;

(d)

That it be noted that the Head of Regeneration will be responsible for
the implementation of the revised scope of local centres work, as set
out within the submitted report.

(Under the provisions of Council Procedure Rule 16.5, Councillors A Carter
and S Golton both required it to be recorded that they respectively abstained
from voting on the decisions referred to within this minute)
124

East Leeds Extension - Land Disposal and Delivery of Community
Infrastructure
The Director of City Development submitted a report which provided an
update on the development of the East Leeds Extension (ELE) and which
sought related approvals regarding the specific next steps in relation to the
disposal and development of Council owned land in the Middle and Southern
Quadrants, together with the related delivery of new community infrastructure.
A Member welcomed the briefings which continued to be received on this
complex matter and in response to a specific enquiry regarding the
consideration being given to the provision of secondary education in the area,
the Director of City Development and the Director of Children and Families
undertook to provide the Member in question with a briefing on this.
Following consideration of Appendix 2 to the submitted report designated as
being exempt from publication under the provisions of Access to Information
Procedure Rule 10.4(3), which was considered in private at the conclusion of
the public part of the meeting, it was
RESOLVED –
(a)
That approval be given for the Council to enter into Option Agreements
with Taylor Wimpey and Redrow in relation to the sale of Council land
in the Southern Quadrant (as shown in the plan at Appendix 1 to the
submitted report) and an Equalisation Agreement with the other Middle
and Southern Quadrant land owners and developers, with such
agreements to be on the terms as outlined within the submitted report;
(b)

That the principle of the Council’s land at Parcel A in the Southern
Quadrant of the ELE (as shown in the plan at Appendix 1 to the
submitted report) being appropriated or dedicated for use as a primary
school and for the provision of community facilities as necessary and in
accordance with planning requirements, be approved;
Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting
to be held on Wednesday, 17th March, 2021

Page 73

125

(c)

That the principle of the Council disposing of land at Parcel A in the
Southern Quadrant of the ELE (as shown in the plan at Appendix 1 to
the submitted report) to a third party or parties for use as a school and
for the provision of community facilities, be approved;

(d)

That it be noted that the Capital Programme report on the agenda for
this meeting proposes the injection of up to £650,000 to facilitate the
re-provision of the existing sports pitches in the Southern Quadrant, to
be forward funded by developers; and that approval be given to the
Director of City Development to authorise the Director to provide
authority to spend up to that amount for this purpose;

(e)

That the principle of pitch development, as set out in the Whinmoor
Grange Development Brief, be reaffirmed, and that approval be given
for the progression of feasibility, design and the submission of a
planning application to enable progression of the ELE playing pitch
strategy, as set out in paragraphs 3.16-3.25 of the submitted report.

Corn Exchange Public Realm Design and Cost Report
The Director of City Development submitted a report which outlined the
establishment of the ‘Grey to Green’ work programme for the creation of high
quality green infrastructure projects and detailed the related submission of a
final business case to West Yorkshire Combined Authority (WYCA). The
report also set out the proposed redevelopment of an area of land outside the
Corn Exchange for the creation of a new high quality public realm, and which
sought the necessary ‘authority to spend’ for the delivery of the proposal.
Finally, the report provides information and sought the necessary approvals
for the development of proposals regarding the pavilion building to be brought
forward by CX (Leeds) Limited, subject to planning approvals.
Following consideration of Appendix 3 to the submitted report designated as
being exempt from publication under the provisions of Access to Information
Procedure Rule 10.4(3), which was considered in private at the conclusion of
the public part of the meeting, it was
RESOLVED –
(a)
That the establishment of the ‘Grey to Green’ work programme and the
submission of a final business case to WYCA in November 2020 to
secure £8.6m of match funding from the Government’s Getting Building
Fund, be noted;
(b)

That the progress made on proposals for the development of the public
realm scheme for the Corn Exchange, linked to the delivery of the
Connecting Leeds Corn Exchange Gateway, be noted;

(c)

That the authority to spend up to £1,546,655 on the Corn Exchange
Public Realm scheme from the sources identified within the submitted
report, be approved;

Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting
to be held on Wednesday, 17th March, 2021

Page 74

(d)

That the principles of the proposed lease terms, as outlined in the
exempt appendix to the submitted report, for the construction of a
pavilion building and a ground lease between Leeds City Council and
CX (Leeds) Limited (part of Rushbond PLC), be approved, with the
necessary authority being delegated to the Director of City
Development to enable the Director to conclude the final agreement;

(e)

That the principles of the management agreement between Leeds City
Council and CX (Leeds) Limited to facilitate use of the space by CX
(Leeds) Limited for an annual programme of trading and events
associated with the Corn Exchange, be approved and that the
necessary authority be delegated to the Director of City Development
in order to enable the Director to conclude the final agreement;

(f)

That it be noted that further reports will be submitted to Executive
Board regarding approvals for the remaining ‘Grey to Green’ projects;

(g)

That subject to ongoing consultation with relevant Executive Members,
as appropriate, it be noted that the Director of City Development will be
responsible for the implementation of the resolutions arising from the
submitted report.

(Under the provisions of Council Procedure Rule 16.5, Councillors S Golton
required it to be recorded that he abstained from voting on the decisions
referred to within this minute)
126

Annual Report on the Climate Emergency
Further to Minute No. 134, 7th January 2020, the Director of Resources and
Housing submitted a report providing an update on the progress being made
towards reducing emissions at both a national and local level, setting out key
actions that have been undertaken. The report also reflected upon the impact
of the Covid-19 pandemic on both emissions and how the road to recovery
can be founded in the green economy.
Members discussed the range of zero emission targets that existed locally,
nationally and internationally, with the actions being taken in Leeds being
noted and it was also acknowledged that whilst Leeds would continue to work
to address the Climate Emergency, matters such as the alignment of zero
emission targets remained the subject of ongoing discussion.
Responding to a Member’s enquiries, the Board was provided with further
detail regarding the proposed development of a Domestic Energy Strategy
and how Members would be involved in that process. Details were also
provided to the Board on the engagement and communications work being
undertaken with communities in this area.
RESOLVED –
(a)
That the intention to report on the Council’s scope 3 emissions in the
next annual report, in line with the climate commission’s proposed
approach for the city, be noted;
Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting
to be held on Wednesday, 17th March, 2021

Page 75

(b)

That the intention to bring a domestic energy strategy to Executive
Board in summer 2021, be noted.

LEARNING, SKILLS AND EMPLOYMENT
127

Outcome of consultation on proposals to establish Resource Provision
at Bishop Young Church of England Academy and St Margaret’s Church
of England Primary School
The Director of Children and Families submitted a report which in Part A
presented the outcomes from the consultation exercise undertaken on a
proposal to establish Resource Provision at St Margaret’s Church of England
Primary School and which sought a decision to publish a statutory notice in
respect of this proposal. In Part B, the report presented the outcomes from the
consultation exercise undertaken on a proposal to establish Resource
Provision at Bishop Young Church of England Academy and which sought the
relevant approvals.
Members welcomed the proposals detailed within the submitted report.
RESOLVED –
Part A – Proposed 12-place Resource Provision at St Margaret’s C of E
Primary
School, Horsforth:
(a)

That the publication of a statutory notice on a proposal to establish a
12-place Resource Provision at St Margaret’s Church of England
Primary School with effect from September 2021, be approved;

(b)

That provisional approval for authority to spend (ATS) of £1.1m to
deliver the proposed 12-place Resource Provision at St Margaret’s
Church of England Primary School, be granted;

(c)

That it be noted that the implementation of the proposal would be
subject to the response of the proposed statutory notice and on the
outcome of further detailed design work and planning applications, as
indicated at section 4.4 of the submitted report;

(d)

That it be noted that the proposal has been brought forward in time for
places to be delivered for 2021;

(e)

That it be noted that the responsible officer for the implementation of
such matters is the Head of Learning Systems.

Part B – Proposed 30-place Resource Provision at Bishop Young Church
of England Academy:
(f)

That approval be given for the progression of a proposal to establish a
30-place Resource Provision at Bishop Young Church of England
Academy, with effect from September 2021;
Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting
to be held on Wednesday, 17th March, 2021

Page 76

128

(g)

That provisional approval for authority to spend (ATS) of £2.2m to
deliver the proposed 30-place Resource Provision at Bishop Young
Church of England Academy, be granted;

(h)

That it be noted that the implementation of the proposal is subject to
the outcome of further detailed design work and planning applications,
as indicated at section 4.4 of the submitted report;

(i)

That it be noted that the proposal has been brought forward in time for
places to be delivered for 2021;

(j)

That it be noted that the responsible officer for the implementation of
such matters is the Head of Learning Systems.

Outcome of a Statutory Notice on a proposal to permanently increase
learning places at West Oaks SEN Specialist School and College from
September 2021
The Director of Children and Families submitted a report presenting the
outcomes from the statutory notice regarding a proposal to permanently
expand West Oaks Special Educational Needs (SEN) Specialist School and
College from 350 to 500 places for children and young people aged 2-19 from
September 2021 utilising a site at Buckingham Road, Headingley (formerly
known as Rose Court). Additionally, the report also sought a final decision on
the proposal.
Members welcomed the proposals detailed within the submitted report.
RESOLVED –
(a)
That the governing body’s proposal to permanently expand West Oaks
SEN Specialist School and College from 350 to 500 places for children
and young people aged 2-19 utilising a site on Buckingham Road in
Headingley (previously known as Rose Court) with effect from
September 2021, be approved;
(b)

That the recommendation to exempt the decisions arising from this
report from the Call In process for the reasons as set out in paragraph
4.5.2 of the submitted report, be approved;

(c)

That it be noted that the implementation of the proposal is subject to
funding being agreed based upon the outcome of further detailed
design work and planning applications, as indicated at section 4.4 of
the submitted report, with it also being noted that the proposal has
been brought forward in time for places to be delivered for 2021;

(d)

That it be noted that the responsible officer for the implementation of
such matters is the Head of Learning Systems.

(The Council’s Executive and Decision Making Procedure Rules state that a
decision may be declared as being exempt from the Call In process by the
Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting
to be held on Wednesday, 17th March, 2021

Page 77

decision taker if it is considered that the matter is urgent and any delay would
seriously prejudice the Council’s, or the public’s interests. In line with this, the
resolutions contained within this minute were exempted from the Call In
process, as per resolution (b) above, and for the reasons as detailed within
section 4.5.2 of the submitted report)
129

Determination of School Admissions Arrangements for 2022/23
The Director of Children and Families submitted a report which presented for
approval the Local Authority Admissions Policy and Admissions
Arrangements for entry to Voluntary Controlled and Community Schools in
September 2022.
In responding to a concern regarding the proposed location of some
catchment area boundaries, Members discussed the increasing complexities
involved in establishing school admission arrangements and catchments
areas for the city.
RESOLVED –
(a)
That in determining the school admissions arrangements for the
academic year 2022/23, the admissions policies for the Leeds
Community and Voluntary Controlled Primary and Secondary schools
(as detailed at Appendices A, B, & C of the submitted report), be
approved;
(b)

That the resolutions of the Board in respect of the submitted report, as
detailed within this minute, be exempted from the Call In process for
the reasons as detailed within paragraph 4.5.2 of the submitted report;

(c)

That the following be noted:(i)

(ii)

(iii)

The Co-ordinated scheme for admissions arrangements for
entry in September 2022 (as detailed at Appendix D to the
submitted report) and that there are no significant changes to
the content, but the scheme has been re-worded to be simpler,
clearer and make the policy more accessible to all Local
Authority colleagues and families;
That the officer responsible for the implementation of such
matters is the Lead for Admissions and Family Information
Service;
That the statutory date for implementation (i.e. determination of
the policies) is no later than 28 February 2021, with the policy
being published by 15 March 2021.

(The Council’s Executive and Decision Making Procedure Rules state that a
decision may be declared as being exempt from the Call In process by the
decision taker if it is considered that the matter is urgent and any delay would
seriously prejudice the Council’s, or the public’s interests. In line with this, the
resolutions contained within this minute were exempted from the Call In

Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting
to be held on Wednesday, 17th March, 2021

Page 78

process, as per resolution (b) above, and for the reasons as detailed within
section 4.5.2 of the submitted report)
(Under the provisions of Council Procedure Rule 16.5, Councillors A Carter
required it to be recorded that he abstained from voting on the decisions
referred to within this minute)
CHILDREN AND FAMILIES
130

Covid-19 and the Early Years Sector
The Director of Children and Families submitted a report that provided an
overview of the Early Years sector in Leeds, within the context of the Covid-19
pandemic and the challenges that this had presented.
By way of introduction to the report, the Executive Member summarised the
range of issues which were being faced by the sector together with the
actions being taken by the Council to support providers.
Responding to a Member’s enquiries, the Board received further detail on the
actions being taken to maximise the availability of funding to support the
sector during the pandemic, and the representations being made to
Government on such matters. With regard to the number of childcare
providers who had received financial support from Government funding via
the discretionary element administered by the Council, officers undertook to
provide the Member with further detail on this.
Linked to this, responding to a Member’s enquiry regarding the discretionary
funding stream that was currently open for applications, and whether any
remaining balance from this funding stream could potentially be made
available to childcare providers following the forthcoming deadline, officers
undertook to look into this matter further.
Members further discussed the continued role played by the Local Authority in
making representations to Government in respect of the concerns which
existed for the sector during the pandemic, with detailed discussion being
given to a number of areas relating to the pandemic where representations
had been made to Government, or where views had been provided at the
Government’s invitation.
Responding to a Member’s enquiry, the Board received further detail
regarding the provision of ‘Little Owls’ and the continued monitoring and
adaptation of the business model for the service, with it being noted that the
Council’s expertise in this area was shared with the wider sector, as a way of
providing support to private businesses during the current time.
RESOLVED – That the following be noted:(a)
That the childcare sector has faced significant challenges during the
Covid-19 pandemic – in relation to finances, demand for places and the
ability to provide the stimulating learning environment providers aspire
Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting
to be held on Wednesday, 17th March, 2021

Page 79

to due to the safety measures, restrictions, guidance and advice in
place;
(b)

That there is concern both nationally and locally that the childcare
market disruption is likely to have ongoing and long term impacts on
the sector, with regard to parental engagement with childcare and early
learning, the sustainability of childcare provider businesses and
subsequently the sufficiency of early learning and childcare places;

(c)

That the Local Authority continues to support the sector through
ongoing communication and advice, amending funding approaches
wherever possible in line with Department for Education (DfE) advice to
offer financial support to providers;

(d)

That the Local Authority will continue to lobby and advocate for the
sector with regard to the need for adequate funding, in recognition of
the crucial importance of the sector for children’s development and as
a key plank of the economy;

(e)

That the Local Authority will continue to lobby and advocate for the
sector with regard to being recognised and included in Covid-19
recovery plans; e.g. staff being included within priority groups for
vaccinations, access to adequate PPE and timely communication from
central Government to the sector.

DATE OF PUBLICATION:

FRIDAY, 12TH FEBRUARY 2021

LAST DATE FOR CALL IN
OF ELIGIBLE DECISIONS:

5.00 P.M., FRIDAY, 19TH FEBRUARY 2021

Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting
to be held on Wednesday, 17th March, 2021

Page 80

APPENDIX 3

SCRUTINY BOARD (ADULTS, HEALTH AND ACTIVE LIFESTYLES)

Work Schedule for 2021/2022 Municipal Year
June 2021

July 2021

August 2021

Meeting Agenda for 15/06/21 at 1.30 pm.

Meeting Agenda for 13/07/21 at 1.30 pm.

No Scrutiny Board meeting scheduled

Scrutiny Board Terms of Reference and
Sources of Work (DB)
Performance Update (PM)

Page 81

Working Group Meetings

Site Visits / Other

Scrutiny Work Items Key:
PSR
Policy/Service Review
PDS
Pre-decision Scrutiny

RT
PM

Recommendation Tracking
Performance Monitoring

DB
C

Development Briefings
Consultation Response

APPENDIX 3

SCRUTINY BOARD (ADULTS, HEALTH AND ACTIVE LIFESTYLES)

Work Schedule for 2021/2022 Municipal Year

September 2021

October 2021

November 2021

Meeting Agenda for 07/09/21 at 1.30 pm.

Meeting Agenda for 05/10/21 at 1.30 pm.

Meeting Agenda for 16/11/21 at 1.30 pm.

Page 82
Working Group Meetings

Site Visits / Other

Scrutiny Work Items Key:
PSR
Policy/Service Review
PDS
Pre-decision Scrutiny

RT
PM

Recommendation Tracking
Performance Monitoring

DB
C

Development Briefings
Consultation Response

APPENDIX 3

SCRUTINY BOARD (ADULTS, HEALTH AND ACTIVE LIFESTYLES)

Work Schedule for 2021/2022 Municipal Year
December 2021

January 2022

February 2022

No Scrutiny Board meeting scheduled

Meeting Agenda for 11/01/022 at 1.30 pm.

Meeting Agenda for 08/02/22 at 1.30 pm.

Performance report (PM)
Financial Health Monitoring (PSR)
2022/23 Initial Budget Proposals (PDS)

Page 83

Working Group Meetings

Site Visits / Other

Scrutiny Work Items Key:
PSR
Policy/Service Review
PDS
Pre-decision Scrutiny

RT
PM

Recommendation Tracking
Performance Monitoring

DB
C

Development Briefings
Consultation Response

APPENDIX 3

SCRUTINY BOARD (ADULTS, HEALTH AND ACTIVE LIFESTYLES)

Work Schedule for 2021/2022 Municipal Year

March 2022

April 2022

May 2022

Meeting Agenda for 15/03/22 at 1.30 pm.

No Scrutiny Board meeting scheduled

Page 84

Working Group Meetings

Scrutiny Work Items Key:
PSR
Policy/Service Review
PDS
Pre-decision Scrutiny

RT
PM

Recommendation Tracking
Performance Monitoring

DB
C

Development Briefings
Consultation Response

No Scrutiny Board meeting scheduled

